
Research Triangle High School

Board Meeting

Date and Time

Wednesday November 15, 2023 at 5:30 PM EST

Location

In person or Remote:

3106 East, 3106 NC-54, Durham, NC 27709

OR

RTHS Board of Directors is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting.
Topic: RTHS Board of Directors' Zoom Meeting
Time: This is a recurring meeting Meet anytime
Join Zoom Meeting
https://rthighschool.zoom.us/j/93566460638
Meeting ID: 935 6646 0638
---
One tap mobile
+16694449171,,93566460638# US
+16699006833,,93566460638# US (San Jose)
---
Dial by your location
• +1 669 444 9171 US
• +1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose)
• +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston)
• +1 719 359 4580 US
• +1 253 205 0468 US
• +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma)

1 of 4Powered by BoardOnTrack 1 of 85Powered by BoardOnTrack



• +1 689 278 1000 US
• +1 929 436 2866 US (New York)
• +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC)
• +1 305 224 1968 US
• +1 309 205 3325 US
• +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago)
• +1 360 209 5623 US
• +1 386 347 5053 US
• +1 507 473 4847 US
• +1 564 217 2000 US
• +1 646 931 3860 US
Meeting ID: 935 6646 0638
Find your local number: https://rthighschool.zoom.us/u/ahcfCIgHb

Agenda

Purpose Presenter Time

I. Opening Items 5:30 PM

A. Record Attendance Vote Ailette Tobien 2 m

B. Call the Meeting to Order Carolyn Coia 1 m

II. Approve Board Minutes 5:33 PM

A. Board Meeting Minutes Approve
Minutes

Ailette Tobien 2 m

Approve minutes from the September 20, 2023 Board meeting and the October 13,
2023 Board retreat

Approve minutes for Board Meeting on October 18, 2023

B. Approve Board Retreat Minutes Approve
Minutes

Ailette Tobien 4 m

Approve minutes for Annual Board Retreat on October 13, 2023

III. Public Comments 5:39 PM

A. Open to all community members (students,
family members, faculty and staff, community
members, and others)

FYI Carolyn Coia 10 m
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Purpose Presenter Time

Welcome and thank you to everyone attending tonight's meeting. If you submitted a
request to make a comment, please limit your remarks to no more than 3 minutes.

IV. Audit Review 5:49 PM

A. Audit Report - high level Discuss 10 m

V. Chief School Officer Report 5:59 PM

A. Executive Overview Discuss Akiba Griffin 15 m

Interim Principal Akiba Griffin will highlight key events and activities at RTHS.

VI. Finance 6:14 PM

A. Updates on the FY 2023-24 Budget Discuss Mitch Babb and
Brandon Mitchell

15 m

Committee Chair Mitch Babb and RTHS Director of Operations Brandon Mitchell will
provide an update on the 2023-24 budget.

VII. Academic Excellence 6:29 PM

A. Committee Actions and Updates Discuss Steven Hunter 5 m

Committee Chair Steven Hunter will provide an update on the work of the Academic
Excellence Committee.

VIII. Development 6:34 PM

A. Committee Update FYI Dina Requena 5 m
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Purpose Presenter Time

Committee Chair Dina Requena will provide an update on planning for the work of the
committee.

IX. Governance 6:39 PM

A. ByLaw Updates Vote Gary Rodgers 5 m

• Formatting for better readability
• Rewording the pronouns to be more inclusive (e.g. He to They, Him to Their,
etc).
• Removed the COI portion and reference it as a policy (so that doesn’t need to
be approved by the state every time it has to be changed)
• Additional compliance issues that were found by Lisa (e.g. the Executive
Committee can only recommend a decision only the Board can vote on a
decision)

B. Committee Updates Discuss Gary Rodgers 5 m

-Potential Board Member
-Board/Committee Goals in BoT

X. Other Business Matters 6:49 PM

A. As needed Discuss Carolyn Coia 5 m

Additional matters may be proposed for consideration by Board members.

XI. Executive Session - Personnel Matters 6:54 PM

A. Closed Discussion Discuss Carolyn Coia 5 m

XII. Other Business Matters 6:59 PM

A. As needed Vote Carolyn Coia 3 m

XIII. Closing Items 7:02 PM

A. Adjourn Meeting Vote Ailette Tobien 1 m
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Coversheet

Board Meeting Minutes

Section: II. Approve Board Minutes
Item: A. Board Meeting Minutes
Purpose: Approve Minutes
Submitted by:
Related Material: Minutes for Board Meeting on October 18, 2023
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Research Triangle High School

Minutes

Board Meeting

Date and Time
Wednesday October 18, 2023 at 5:30 PM

Location
The October monthly meeting of the Research Triangle High School (RTHS) Board of Directors
is accessible remotely.

Join Zoom Meeting
https://rthighschool.zoom.us/j/93566460638
Meeting ID: 935 6646 0638
---
One tap mobile
+16694449171,,93566460638# US
---
Dial by your location
• +1 669 444 9171 US

Directors Present
A. Tobien (remote), C. Coia (remote), D. Requena (remote), E. Cunningham (remote), J. Corn
(remote), M. Babb (remote), S. Hunter (remote)

Directors Absent
G. Rodgers, M. Walden, S. Rivers-Kobler

Directors who arrived after the meeting opened
M. Babb
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Guests Present
A. Griffin (remote), B. Mitchell (remote), J Brown, Julie Brown (remote), Mark Stevenson
(remote), Shannon Maaske (remote), Vonetta Urquhart (remote)

I. Opening Items

E. Cunningham called a meeting of the board of directors of Research Triangle High
School to order on Wednesday Oct 18, 2023 at 5:38 PM.

II. Approve Board Minutes

C. Coia made a motion to approve the minutes from Board Meeting on 09-20-23.
S. Hunter seconded the motion.
The board VOTED to approve the motion.

Roll Call

C. Coia Aye

E. Cunningham Aye

A. Tobien Aye

S. Rivers-Kobler Absent

D. Requena Aye

J. Corn Aye

M. Walden Absent

S. Hunter Aye

M. Babb Absent

G. Rodgers Absent

M. Babb arrived.

Board Retreat Minutes approval postponed to next Board Meeting

III. Public Comments

None at this meeting

IV. Chief School Officer Report

Record AttendanceA.

Call the Meeting to OrderB.

Board Meeting MinutesA.

Approve Board Retreat MinutesB.

Open to all community members (students, family members, faculty and staff,
community members, and others)

A.
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A.Griffin presented the executive overview. Refer to the slides in agenda. Highlights:

• First food truck rodeo
• early decision college applications
• Hispanic heritage month celebration
• King Lear Performances - theater
• Pink-Out students vs staff volleyball game _ support breast cancer
• Homecoming Soccer game - rescheduled for Wed Oct 25th

Staff Update:

• Dez Thompson for Dean of Culture
• Alex Drake for Chief Operations Officer to replace Brandon Mitchell in Dec 2023.

Vacancies - remain frozen awaiting state funding

V. Finance

M.Babb provided an update on finance. Refer to slides on the agenda for further details.

B.Mitchell provided an update on budget:

• Awaiting state funding.
• ADM = 562, lower than expected
• Debt to service cover ratio = 1.20, as required by the bond

Change in Parental leave:

• from 6 weeks to 8 weeks equally for birthing and non-birthing parents
• RTHS has treated both birthing and non-birthing parents the same in policy,
although the state makes a difference.
• State provides substitute reimbursement and needs to be submitted by 1Nov23.
• change endorsed by Finance committee.

M. Babb made a motion to amend RTHS parental leave to 8 weeks for birthing and non-
birthing.
C. Coia seconded the motion.

• B.Mitchell - to confirm with legal regarding employment period at RTHS

Executive OverviewA.

Updates on the FY 2023-24 Budget and Personnel Policy ProposalA.
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The board VOTED to approve the motion.

Roll Call

A. Tobien Aye

S. Hunter Aye

G. Rodgers Absent

M. Walden Absent

S. Rivers-Kobler Absent

J. Corn Aye

E. Cunningham Aye

C. Coia Aye

D. Requena Aye

M. Babb Aye

VI. Academic Excellence

S.Hunter addressed that Academic excellence will focused high performing student and
high quality staff priorities with A. Griffin.

VII. Development

D.Requena to re-start the development committee and plan to schedule a committee
meeting by end of the month.

VIII. Other Business Matters

• Governance Committee will report on next board meeting.

• Board Retreat update provided by E.Cunningham
◦ review recommendations
◦ next steps on actions and recommendations

E. Cunningham made a motion to adjourn the meeting.
M. Babb seconded the motion.
The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

IX. Closing Items

There being no further business to be transacted, and upon motion duly made, seconded
and approved, the meeting was adjourned at 6:14 PM.

Committee Actions and UpdatesA.

Committee UpdateA.

As neededA.

Adjourn MeetingA.
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Respectfully Submitted,
A. Tobien
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Coversheet

Approve Board Retreat Minutes

Section: II. Approve Board Minutes
Item: B. Approve Board Retreat Minutes
Purpose: Approve Minutes
Submitted by:
Related Material: Minutes for Annual Board Retreat on October 13, 2023
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Research Triangle High School

Minutes

Annual Board Retreat

Date and Time
Friday October 13, 2023 at 9:00 AM

Location
600 Park Offices Dr, Durham, NC 27709

As you enter the building lobby area, go left down the long hallway and the conference room will
be at the end of the hall on the left

•What’s worked, what hasn’t
• Key challenges
• Goals – 1 year and longer

Directors Present
A. Tobien, C. Coia, D. Requena, E. Cunningham, G. Rodgers, J. Corn, M. Babb, M. Walden, S.
Hunter

Directors Absent
S. Rivers-Kobler

Directors who arrived after the meeting opened
D. Requena, M. Walden

Guests Present
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A. Griffin, Bryan Setser

I. Opening Items

C. Coia called a meeting of the board of directors of Research Triangle High School to
order on Friday Oct 13, 2023 at 9:07 AM.

II. Public Comment (If Needed)

None
D. Requena arrived.
M. Walden arrived.

III. Executive Session

E. Cunningham made a motion to go into executive session due to personnel matters.
A. Tobien seconded the motion.
The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.
A. Tobien made a motion to exit executive session.
S. Hunter seconded the motion.
The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

IV. Personnel Contract Approvals

G. Rodgers made a motion to approve of latest personnel contracts.
M. Babb seconded the motion.
The board VOTED to approve the motion.

Roll Call

G. Rodgers Aye

A. Tobien Aye

S. Rivers-Kobler Absent

J. Corn Aye

D. Requena Aye

S. Hunter Aye

E. Cunningham Aye

C. Coia Aye

Record Attendance and GuestsA.

Call the Meeting to OrderB.

Comment (as needed)A.

Personnel DiscussionsA.

Approval of Latest Personnel ContractsA.
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Roll Call

M. Babb Aye

M. Walden Abstain

V. Transition Update

A. Griffin provided an update on school staff and budget.

Bryan Setser from Setser Group presented on School Improvement Plan (SIP):

• in NC for charter schools is encouraged not mandatory
• SIT (school improvement team) - can provide the work summary come to the
board committee and the board for oversight
• PTO = PTSO for RTHS

Board reviewed the draft of SIP and SIT (school improvement team) documents

State Budget:

• State budget was made law midnight Oct 3rd.
• Still awaiting final budget increases from the state.

Legislative Update - Additional state guidance

• SB 49 Parents’ Bill of Rights (more guidance to come)
• HB 574 Fairness in Women’s Sports Act (more guidance to come)
• HB 219 Charter School Omnibus
• HB 618 Charter School Review Board
• Parental leave policy (for Board approval on 18Oct23)

Board appreciated the report from Parent Task Force. The Parent Task Force 5 key
recommendations were reviewed at board retreat:

•Waiting for other task group to present
• Inclusion statement - waiting for other task groups to present
• Dean of culture - position hired

School leadership support/evaluation and searchesA.

School Improvement PlanB.

State budget and 2023 legislation updateC.

Parent & Caregiver Task Force Recommendations ResponseD.
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• Clubs - recommendations may go to the SIT
• Marketing and Communication position - at this point there is no budget for this
position. This recommendation may go to the SIT for discussion.

The Board discussed:

• Interim evaluation from school staff on leadership and culture target to send out
next week
• Additional support to school administration

VI. Committee Updates

G. Rodgers provided an update on governance for:

• bylaws updates
• board member membership, terms and recruitment
• open meeting and closed session reminders

S. Hunter presented an update on the academic excellence committee.

Goals

• Alignment of Academics Excellence with Setser Group 5 Key Priorities
• Ensure Equal Opportunity for All Students
• Expand AP Courses
• Determine Consistent Set of Data Sources and Metrics

External RTHS Data Available:

• 2022 School Report Card
• 2022 Recovery Dashboard
• 2022 Teacher Working Conditions Survey
• 2023 School Level Accountability Dashboard
• 2023 School Level Cohort Graduation Dashboard
• Niche rankings are based on analysis of data and reviews (A recent ranking
example)

M. Babb presented on the finance committee.

• 2023-24 School year ADM 562

CSO Support and EvaluationE.

Governance UpdateA.

Academic Excellence UpdateB.

Finance UpdateC.
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• Adjusted budget for reduced revenues
• DSCR = 1.20, as required for Bond

Finance Committee Annual Goals:

• Bi-Monthly Financial Learning Sessions
• Annual Budget
• Interest Earning Account
• On-boarding

D. Requena provided an update on development committee.

• Re-start the development committee
• Trust is key for a culture of giving
• Development committee should recruit new members from all communities at
RTHS
• Centralized fundraising mechanism
• Revisit James Gray proposal

VII. Work Session

Main board goals focus for the school year:

• SIP
• School leadership
• DEIB assessment response and progress
• School financials
• Re-engage on development committee

Gary - Mid-Oct evaluation
Carolyn - Next level Review of SIP

VIII. Closing Items

M. Walden made a motion to adjourn the retreat meeting.
M. Babb seconded the motion.
The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

Development UpdateD.

Develop Unified Set of ActionsA.

Review Action Item ListB.

Adjourn MeetingA.
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There being no further business to be transacted, and upon motion duly made, seconded
and approved, the meeting was adjourned at 1:34 PM.

Respectfully Submitted,
A. Tobien
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Coversheet

Audit Report - high level

Section: IV. Audit Review
Item: A. Audit Report - high level
Purpose: Discuss
Submitted by:
Related Material: RTHS_Corrective action plan FY23.pdf

A05.03 ALG-CL-3_1 Management Rep Ltr 2023 - Published.pdf
RTHS_revised draft_6 30 2023.pdf
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Research Triangle High School  

PO Box 13453, 3016 East NC Hwy 54 

Durham, NC 27709  

 

Office:  919-998-6757 

Fax:  919-998-3402 

www.researchtrianglehighschool.org 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

SECTION III – STATE AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

 

Finding: 2023 – 1 

 

Name of Contact Persons: Akiba Griffin, Interim Executive Director 

 

Corrective Action: Following the guidelines of North Carolina GS Chapter 115C, Article 14A, 

and Article 31, RTHS will implement a procedure to guarantee that the 

School maintains the mandatory 50% of certified teachers, as stipulated by 

the statute. As of July 2023, the School is in compliance with this statutory 

requirement. 

 

Proposed Completion Date: November 1, 2023 

 

 

Finding: 2023 – 2 

 

Name of Contact Persons: Akiba Griffin, Interim Executive Director 

 

Corrective Action: In accordance with North Carolina SS 2015-241, Section 6.26, RTHS will 

establish a policy to ensure that the annual salary of any individual 

employee of a nonprofit organization receiving State funds does not exceed 

one hundred twenty thousand dollars ($120,000). Salaries exceeding the 

cap of $120,000 will be categorized as either general funds or non-state 

funding sources. 

 

Proposed Completion Date: November 1, 2023 

 

 

Finding: 2023 – 3 

 

Name of Contact Persons: Akiba Griffin, Interim Executive Director 

 

Corrective Action: RTHS was found to be non-compliant in obtaining consent forms from 

parents before providing services. These actions were carried out during 

the tenure of the previous EC Director. RTHS has since appointed a new 
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EC Director and implemented a comprehensive procedure with a checklist 

to guarantee the acquisition of all necessary documents. 

 

Proposed Completion Date: November 1, 2023 

 

 

Finding: 2023 – 4 

 

Name of Contact Persons: Akiba Griffin, Interim Executive Director 

 

Corrective Action: In compliance with North Carolina General Statutes, particularly Chapter 

115C, Article 14A and Article 31, it is mandated that all exceptional staff 

possess an active license certified in exceptional education. In FY23, RTHS 

had an expired EC teacher's license due to a leadership change at the start 

of the fiscal year, resulting in delayed paperwork processing. The school is 

committed to implementing procedures to ensure that EC teachers remain 

in compliance with North Carolina General Statutes. Presently, all EC staff 

members hold valid licenses in accordance with North Carolina GS 

licensing requirements.  

 

Proposed Completion Date: November 1, 2013 

 

Finding: 2023 – 5 

 

Name of Contact Persons: Akiba Griffin, Interim Executive Director 

 

Corrective Action: RTHS firmly holds the belief that the contract with Joey Webb, an 

independent contractor responsible for WTHS (80%) and RTHS executive 

director support (20%), should be the financial responsibility of RTHS, and 

this arrangement has been made in good faith. Approximately one month 

into the contract, the situation demanded that RTHS and WTHS undergo a 

division and amend the scope of work within the contract. RTHS 

acknowledges that, in hindsight, a contract amendment should have been 

initiated to reflect the updated scope of work. The Board is actively 

developing a procedure to oversee and review all Board contracts, ensuring 

that proper contract procedures are meticulously followed. 

 

Proposed Completion Date: January 1, 2024 
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Research Triangle High School  

PO Box 13453, 3016 East NC Hwy 54 

Research Triangle Park, NC 27709  

 

Office:  919-998-6757 

Fax:  919-998-3402 

www.researchtrianglehighschool.org 

 

 

  

October 23, 2023  

 

Thomas Judy & Tucker, P.A. 
4700 Falls of Neuse Road, Suite 400 
Raleigh, NC 27609 

 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Contemporary 
Science Center, Inc. (the “School”), which comprise the respective financial position of the governmental activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes 
in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows for the year then ended, and the disclosures (collectively, 
the “financial statements”), for the purpose of expressing opinions as to whether the financial statements are 
presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America (U.S. GAAP).  

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are 
considered to be material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, in light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable 
person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement. An omission 
or misstatement that is monetarily small in amount could be considered material as a result of qualitative factors.  

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, as of October 23, 2023, the following representations made 
to you during your audit. 

Financial Statements  

1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated June 7, 
2023, including our responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP and for preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with the 
applicable criteria. 

2) The financial statements referred to above are fairly presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP and include all 
properly classified funds and other financial information of the primary government and all component units 
required by generally accepted accounting principles to be included in the financial reporting entity.  

3) We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

4) We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control to 
prevent and detect fraud. 

5) The methods, significant assumptions, and data used in making accounting estimates, and their related 
disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition, measurement, or disclosure that is reasonable in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

6) Related party relationships and transactions, including revenues, expenditures/expenses, loans, transfers, 
leasing arrangements, and guarantees, and amounts receivable from or payable to related parties have been 
appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP.  
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October 23, 2023 
Page 2 of 6 
 

 

7) Adjustments or disclosures have been made for all events, including instances of noncompliance, subsequent 
to the date of the financial statements that would require adjustment to or disclosure in the financial 
statements or in the schedule of findings and questioned costs.  

8) The effects of uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the 
financial statements as a whole for each opinion unit. A list of the uncorrected misstatements is attached to 
the representation letter. In addition, we agree with the adjusting journal entries you have proposed, and they 
have been posted to the accounts.   

9) The effects of all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments have been accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

10) Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the School is contingently liable, if any, have been properly 
recorded or disclosed. 

11) We have properly disclosed the loan agreement as not qualifying as a direct borrowing or direct placement 
agreement in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 88, Certain 
Disclosures Related to Debt, including Debt Borrowings and Direct Placements. 

Information Provided 

12) We have provided you with: 

a) Access to all information, of which we are aware, that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements, such as records (including information obtained from outside of the general 
and subsidiary ledgers), documentation, and other matters.  

b) Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit. 

c) Unrestricted access to persons within the School from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit 
evidence. 

d) Minutes of the meetings of Board of Directors or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which 
minutes have not yet been prepared.  

13) All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 
statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards.  

14) We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

15) We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the School and involves—  

• Management, 

• Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or 

• Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

16) We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the School’s financial 
statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators, or others.  

17) We have no knowledge of instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, or grant agreements, or waste or abuse, whose effects should be considered when 
preparing financial statements. 

18) We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation, claims, or assessments or unasserted claims or 
assessments that are required to be accrued or disclosed in the financial statements, and we have not 
consulted a lawyer concerning litigation, claims, or assessments.  

19) We have disclosed to you the names of the School’s related parties and all the related party relationships and 
transactions, including any side agreements.  

Government-specific 

19) There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or 
deficiencies in, financial reporting practices. 

20) We have a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations.  
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October 23, 2023 
Page 3 of 6 
 

 

21) We have identified to you any previous audits, attestation engagements, and other studies related to the 
objectives of the audit and whether related recommendations have been implemented. 

22) We have identified to you any investigations or legal proceedings that have been initiated with respect to the 
period under audit. 

23) We have provided our views on reported findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as our planned 
corrective actions, for the report. 

24) The School has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets, 
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fund balance or net position. 

25) We are responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant 
agreements applicable to us, including tax or debt limits and debt contracts, and legal and contractual 
provisions for reporting specific activities in separate funds. 

26) We have identified and disclosed to you all instances of identified and suspected fraud and noncompliance 
with provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements that we believe have a material effect on 
the financial statements or other financial data significant to the audit objectives. 

27) There are no violations or possible violations of budget ordinances, laws and regulations (including those 
pertaining to adopting, approving, and amending budgets), provisions of contracts and grant agreements, tax 
or debt limits, and any related debt covenants whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the 
financial statements, or as a basis for recording a loss contingency, or for reporting on noncompliance. 

28) As part of your audit, you assisted with preparation of the financial statements and disclosures and schedule 
of expenditures of federal and state awards. We acknowledge our responsibility as it relates to those nonaudit 
services, including that we assume all management responsibilities; oversee the services by designating an 
individual, preferably within senior management, who possesses suitable skill, knowledge, or experience; 
evaluate the adequacy and results of the services performed; and accept responsibility for the results of the 
services. We have reviewed, approved, and accepted responsibility for those financial statements and 
disclosures and schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards.  

29) The School has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on such assets 
nor has any asset been pledged as collateral, except as made known to you and disclosed to you in the 
financial statements. 

30) The School has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the 
financial statements in the event of noncompliance. 

31) The financial statements include all component units, appropriately present majority equity interests in legally 
separate organizations and joint ventures with an equity interest, and properly disclose all other joint ventures 
and other related organizations. 

32) The financial statements properly classify all funds and activities in accordance with GASBS No. 34, as 
amended. 

33) All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASBS Nos. 34 and 37 for presentation as major are identified 
and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are particularly important to financial 
statement users. 

34) Components of net position (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted) and classifications 
of fund balance (nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned) are properly classified and, 
if applicable, approved. 

35) Provisions for uncollectible receivables have been properly identified and recorded. 

36) Expenses have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the statement of 
activities, and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis. 

37) Revenues are appropriately classified in the statement of activities within program revenues, general 
revenues, contributions to term or permanent endowments, or contributions to permanent fund principal. 

38) Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified and reported. 
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39) Deposits and investment securities and derivative instrument transactions are properly classified as to risk 
and are properly disclosed. 

40) Capital assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and, if 
applicable, depreciated or amortized. 

41) We have appropriately disclosed the School’s policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or unrestricted 
resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is 
available and have determined that net position is properly recognized under the policy. 

42) We are following our established accounting policy regarding which resources (that is, restricted, committed, 
assigned, or unassigned) are considered to be spent first for expenditures for which more than one resource 
classification is available. That policy determines the fund balance classifications for financial reporting 
purposes.  

43) We acknowledge our responsibility for the required supplementary information (RSI). The RSI is measured 
and presented within prescribed guidelines and the methods of measurement and presentation have not 
changed from those used in the prior period. We have disclosed to you any significant assumptions and 
interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of the RSI. 

44) With respect to the supplementary information: 

a) We acknowledge our responsibility for presenting the supplementary information in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and we believe the 
supplementary information, including its form and content, is fairly presented in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The methods of measurement 
and presentation of the supplementary information have not changed from those used in the prior period, 
and we have disclosed to you any significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement 
and presentation of the supplementary information. 

b) If the supplementary information is not presented with the audited financial statements, we will make the 
audited financial statements readily available to the intended users of the supplementary information no 
later than the date we issue the supplementary information and the auditors’ report thereon. 

45) With respect to federal award programs: 

a) We are responsible for understanding and complying with and have complied with, the requirements of 
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal and State Awards (Uniform Guidance), including 
requirements relating to preparation of the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards.  

b) We acknowledge our responsibility for preparing and presenting the schedule of expenditures of federal 
and state awards (SEFA) and related disclosures in accordance with the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance, and we believe the SEFA, including its form and content, is fairly presented in accordance with 
the Uniform Guidance. The methods of measurement or presentation of the SEFA have not changed from 
those used in the prior period and we have disclosed to you any significant assumptions and 
interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of the SEFA. 

c) If the SEFA is not presented with the audited financial statements, we will make the audited financial 
statements readily available to the intended users of the SEFA no later than the date we issue the SEFA 
and the auditors’ report thereon. 

d) We have identified and disclosed to you all of our government programs and related activities subject to 
the Uniform Guidance compliance audit, and have included in the SEFA, expenditures made during the 
audit period for all awards provided by federal agencies in the form of federal and state awards, federal 
cost-reimbursement contracts, loans, loan guarantees, property (including donated surplus property), 
cooperative agreements, interest subsidies, insurance, food commodities, direct appropriations, and other 
direct assistance. 

e) We are responsible for understanding and complying with, and have complied with, the requirements of 
federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal and state awards related to each of 
our federal programs and have identified and disclosed to you the requirements of federal statutes, 
regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal and state awards that are considered to have a direct 
and material effect on each major program. 
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f) We are responsible for establishing, designing, implementing, and maintaining, and have established, 
designed, implemented, and maintained, effective internal control over compliance for federal programs 
that provides reasonable assurance that we are managing our federal and state awards in compliance 
with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal and state awards that could 
have a material effect on our federal programs. We believe the internal control system is adequate and is 
functioning as intended. 

g) We have made available to you all federal and state awards (including amendments, if any) and any other 
correspondence with federal agencies or pass-through entities relevant to federal programs and related 
activities. 

h) We have received no requests from a federal agency to audit one or more specific programs as a major 
program. 

i) We have complied with the direct and material compliance requirements (except for noncompliance 
disclosed to you), including when applicable, those set forth in the OMB Compliance Supplement relating 
to federal and state awards and have identified and disclosed to you all amounts questioned and all 
known noncompliance with the direct and material compliance requirements of federal and state awards. 

j) We have disclosed any communications from federal and state awarding agencies and pass-through 
entities concerning possible noncompliance with the direct and material compliance requirements, 
including communications received from the end of the period covered by the compliance audit to the 
date of the auditors’ report. 

k) We have disclosed to you the findings received and related corrective actions taken for previous audits, 
attestation engagements, and internal or external monitoring that directly relate to the objectives of the 
compliance audit, including findings received and corrective actions taken from the end of the period 
covered by the compliance audit to the date of the auditors’ report. 

l) Amounts claimed or used for matching were determined in accordance with relevant guidelines in OMB‘s 
Uniform Guidance (2 CFR part 200, subpart E). 

m) We have disclosed to you our interpretation of compliance requirements that may have varying 
interpretations. 

n) We have made available to you all documentation related to compliance with the direct and material 
compliance requirements, including information related to federal program financial reports and claims for 
advances and reimbursements. 

o) We have disclosed to you the nature of any subsequent events that provide additional evidence about 
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period affecting noncompliance during the reporting 
period. 

p) There are no such known instances of noncompliance with direct and material compliance requirements 
that occurred subsequent to the period covered by the auditors’ report. 

q) No changes have been made in internal control over compliance or other factors that might significantly 
affect internal control, including any corrective action we have taken regarding significant deficiencies or 
material weaknesses in internal control over compliance, subsequent to the period covered by the 
auditors’ report. 

r) Federal program financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements are supported by the 
books and records from which the financial statements have been prepared. 

s) The copies of federal program financial reports provided you are true copies of the reports submitted, or 
electronically transmitted, to the respective federal agency or pass-through entity, as applicable. 

t) We have charged costs to federal and state awards in accordance with applicable cost principles. 

u) We are responsible for and have accurately prepared the summary schedule of prior audit findings to 
include all findings required to be included by the Uniform Guidance, and we have provided you with all 
information on the status of the follow-up on prior audit findings by federal and state awarding agencies 
and pass-through entities, including all management decisions. 
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v) We are responsible for and have ensured the reporting package does not contain protected personally 
identifiable information. 

w) We are responsible for and have accurately prepared the auditee section of the Data Collection Form as 
required by the Uniform Guidance. 

x) We are responsible for taking corrective action on each audit finding of the compliance audit and have 
developed a corrective action plan that meets the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. 

y) We have disclosed to you all contracts or other agreements with service organizations, and we have 
disclosed to you all communications from the service organizations relating to noncompliance at the 
service organizations.  

46. The School is not in default regarding the rating covenants in relation to its debt agreement for the year 
ended June 30, 2023. 

47. The School’s loan agreement is not considered a direct borrowing or direct placement agreement in 
accordance with GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Debt 
Borrowings and Direct Placements. 

48. The School’s expenses incurred in relation to the formation and replication of a new charter school are in 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and are deemed appropriate. 

 

 

Signature:     
 
 

Title:     
 

 

Director of Operations
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Contemporary Science Center, Inc. 
Research Triangle Park, North Carolina 
 
Report on the Audit of Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information  of Contemporary Science Center, Inc., as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2023 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of Contemporary Science Center, Inc. as of June 30, 2023, and the 
respective changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (“GAAS”) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report.  We are required to be independent of Contemporary Science Center, Inc. and to meet our 
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raises substantial doubt about Contemporary Science Center, 
Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern for the twelve months beyond the financial statement date, 
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 
our opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgement and maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsible to those risks.  Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s internal control.  
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 through 11 be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s basic financial statements.  The budgetary schedules, as 
well as the accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards as required by Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and the State Single Audit Implementation Act are presented 
for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the budgetary schedules and the 
schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to 
the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 23, 
2023 on our consideration of Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide 
an opinion on the effectiveness of Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
 
Raleigh, North Carolina 
October 23, 2023 
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Exhibit 1

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,294,443
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 1,481,374
Accounts receivable 9,679
Capital assets (Note 1):

Land 1,450,000
Construction in progress 37,422
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 6,982,486

Total capital assets 8,469,908

Total assets 12,255,404        

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 6,040
Accrued interest 268,728
Accrued expenses 27,276
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year 230,000
Due in more than one year 9,372,882

Total liabilities 9,904,926

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 348,400
Unrestricted 2,002,078

Total net position $ 2,350,478

CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC.
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2023

Governmental 
Activities

Primary 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
12
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Exhibit 2

Functions/Programs Expenses
Charges for 

Services

Operating 
Grants and 

Contributions
Governmental 

Activities Total
Primary government:
Governmental activities:

Instructional programs 5,054,695$      -$                 268,159$         (4,786,536)$     (4,786,536)$     
Support services 877,356 -                   6,103               (871,253) (871,253)
Interest on long-term debt 549,325 -                   -                   (549,325) (549,325)
Clubs and activities 171,360 -                   -                   (171,360) (171,360)

Total governmental activities 6,652,736 -                   274,262 (6,378,474) (6,378,474)

Total primary government 6,652,736$      -$                 274,262$         (6,378,474)       (6,378,474)       

General revenues:
Unrestricted county appropriations 2,418,249 2,418,249
Unrestricted State appropriations 3,866,399 3,866,399
Clubs and activities 191,627 191,627
Sales tax 24,052 24,052
Donations - general 21,622 21,622
Miscellaneous 7,871 7,871
Loss on disposal of capital assets (6,465) (6,465)
Unrestricted investment earnings 2,197 2,197

Total general revenues and transfers 6,525,552 6,525,552

Change in net position 147,078 147,078

Net position-beginning 2,203,400 2,203,400

Net position-ending 2,350,478$      2,350,478$      

CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC.
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Net (Expense) Revenue and

Primary Government
Program Revenues Changes in Net Position

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
13
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Exhibit 3

General
State Public 

School
Federal Grant 

Fund
Clubs and 

Activity Fund

Total 
Governmental 

Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 2,158,096$      -$                -$                  136,347$           2,294,443$         
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 1,481,374 -                  -                    -                    1,481,374           
Accounts receivable 9,679 -                  -                    -                    9,679                 

Total assets 3,649,149$      -$                -$                  136,347$           3,785,496$         

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable 6,040$             -$                -$                  -$                  6,040$               
Accrued interest 268,728 -                  -                    -                    268,728              
Accrued expenses 27,276 -                  -                    -                    27,276               

Total liabilities 302,044           -                  -                    -                    302,044              

Fund balances:
Restricted for debt service and repairs

and maintenance 1,481,374 -                  -                    -                    1,481,374
Assigned:

Clubs and activities -                   -                  -                    136,347            136,347
Unassigned 1,865,731 -                  -                    -                    1,865,731

Total fund balances 3,347,105 -                  -                    136,347            3,483,452

Total liabilities and fund balances 3,649,149$      -$                -$                  136,347$           

8,469,908

(9,602,882)

Net position of governmental activities 2,350,478$         

Some liabilities, including notes payable, are not due 
and payable in the current period and therefore are 
not reported in the funds (Note 2).

Major Funds

CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC.
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2023

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not 
financial resources and therefore are not reported in 
the funds.

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the 
statement of net position (Exhibit 1) are different 
because:

Non-major Funds

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
14
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Exhibit 4

General
State Public 

School
Federal Grant 

Fund
Clubs and 

Activity Fund

Total 
Governmental 

Funds
REVENUES
State of North Carolina -$                  3,866,399$      -$              -$                3,866,399$      
Boards of Education 2,418,249 -                  -                -                  2,418,249        
U.S. Government -                    -                  274,262         -                  274,262           
Contributions and donations 21,622 -                  -                -                  21,622             
Clubs and activities -                    -                  -                191,627          191,627           
Sales tax 24,052 -                  -                -                  24,052             
Miscellaneous 7,867 -                  -                -                  7,867               
Investment earnings 2,197 -                  -                -                  2,197               

Total revenues 2,473,987 3,866,399 274,262 191,627 6,806,275

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Instructional programs 847,920 3,768,491 268,159 -                  4,884,570
Support services 695,233 46,675 6,103            -                  748,011
Clubs and activities -                    -                  -                171,360          171,360

Capital outlay: 12,637              51,233 -                -                  63,870
Debt service:

Interest 537,456            -                  -                -                  537,456
Principal 220,000            -                  -                -                  220,000

Total expenditures 2,313,246 3,866,399 274,262 171,360 6,625,267

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
(under) expenditures 160,741 -                  -                20,267            181,008

Net change in fund balance 160,741 -                  -                20,267            181,008

Fund balances-beginning 3,186,364 -                  -                116,080 3,302,444

Fund balances-ending 3,347,105$       -$                -$              136,347$        3,483,452$      

Major Funds

CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC.
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Non-major Funds

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
15
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Exhibit 5

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds 181,008$      

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in
the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the
amount by which depreciation exceeded capital outlays in the current
period. (235,596)       

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds.
Neither transaction has any effect on net position. Also, governmental
funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts, and
similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are
deferred and amortized in the statement of activities. This amount is the
net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and
related items. 208,131        

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the
use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as
expenditures in the governmental funds.

        Loss on disposal of capital assets (6,465)           

Total changes in net position of governmental activities 147,078$      

CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC.
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
to the Statement of Activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
16
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CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

17 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
 The accounting policies of Contemporary Science Center, Inc. (the “School”) conform to generally 

accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) as applicable to governments. Charter schools are 
established by non-profit entities, such as the School. Because of the authority of the State Board of 
Education (the “SBE”) to terminate, not renew or seek applicants to assume a charter on grounds set 
out in the North Carolina General Statutes at G.S. 115C-218.95 with all net assets purchased with 
public funds reverting to a local education agency (G.S. 115C-218.100), the charter schools in North 
Carolina follow the governmental reporting model as used by local education agencies. The following 
is a summary of the more significant accounting policies: 

 
A. Reporting Entity 

 
The School is a North Carolina non-profit corporation incorporated in 2002. Pursuant to the 
provisions of the Charter School Act of 1996 as amended (the “Act”), Contemporary Science 
Center, Inc. has been approved to operate Research Triangle High School, a public school 
serving approximately 573 students. The School operates under an approved charter 
received from the SBE and applied for under the provisions of G.S. 115C-218.1. G.S. 115C-
218.6(b)(1) provides that a charter school shall be subject to the audit requirements adopted 
by the SBE, which includes the audit requirements established by G.S. 115C-447 of the 
School Budget and Fiscal Control Act (“SBFCA”), and requires the financial statements to be 
prepared in accordance with GAAP. The current charter is effective until June 30, 2032, and 
may be renewed for subsequent periods of ten (10) years unless one of the conditions in 
G.S. 115C-218.6(b) applies in which case the SBE may renew the charter for a shorter period 
or not renew the charter. Management believes that the charter will be renewed in the 
ordinary course of business. 
 
The School has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as exempt from Federal 
income taxation under section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as an organization 
described in section 501(c)(3). 
 
Blended Component Unit: Raptorium, LLC (“LLC”) was formed in March 2015 as a North 
Carolina non-profit corporation. The LLC was created primarily as a vehicle to finance and 
own real estate and school facilities utilized by the School. GASB Statement No. 14 as 
amended, The Financial Reporting Entity, requires blending when 1) a component unit’s 
governing body is substantively the same as the governing body of the primary government, 
2) a component unit provides services entirely, or almost entirely, to the primary government, 
3) a component unit’s total debt outstanding, including leases, is expected to be repaid 
entirely, or almost entirely, with resources of the primary government, or 4) the primary 
government is the sole corporate member of the component unit. The LLC provides services 
almost entirely to the School, including owning real property to be leased to the School. 
Additionally, the School is the sole member of the LLC. Therefore, the LLC is reported as 
blended component unit included in the general fund in the School’s financial statements. 
The LLC did not issue separate financial statements. 
 
West Triangle High School: During the year ended June 30, 2023 the School was approved 
to open West Triangle High School (“West Triangle”) through the replication process in 
accordance with the State of North Carolina requirements. However, management 
determined that the replication of West Triangle was not feasible. Accordingly, a separate 
legal entity was created and the Office of Charter Schools approved the transfer of West 
Triangle to be created under the separate legal entity. See Note 3. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

B. Basis of Presentation  
 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements – and Management 
Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments (“GASB 34”), the School is a 
special-purpose government that is engaged in governmental activities and is not a 
component unit of another government. Therefore, the financial statements are prepared in 
the same manner as general purpose governments. 
 
Government-wide Statements: The statement of net position and the statement of activities 
display information about the School. These statements include the financial activities of the 
overall entity. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double counting of internal 
activities. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type 
activities of the School. Governmental activities generally are financed through 
intergovernmental revenues and other non-exchange transactions. Business-type activities 
are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties. The School has no 
business-type activities. 

 
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program 
revenues for the different business-type activities of the School and for each function of the 
School’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated 
with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. 
Indirect expense allocations that have been made in the funds have been reversed for the 
statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) fees and charges paid by the recipients 
of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. 
Revenues that are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues. 

   
Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the 
School’s funds. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental funds, 
each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental funds are aggregated and 
reported as non-major funds. 

 
Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange 
transactions associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are 
those in which each party receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating 
revenues, such as subsidies and investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions 
or ancillary activities. 

 
The School reports the following major governmental funds: 

 
General Fund. The General Fund is the general operating fund of the School. The General 
Fund accounts for all financial resources except those that are required to be accounted for in 
another fund. 

 
State Public School Fund. The State Public School Fund includes appropriations from the 
Department of Public Instruction for specific operating needs of the School and is reported as 
a special revenue fund. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

B.  Basis of Presentation (Continued) 
 

The School reports two non-major funds, the Federal Grant Fund and the Clubs and Activity 
Fund. 

 

The School reports no proprietary funds.  
 

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 

Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements. The government-wide and 
proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus. The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are 
reported using the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and 
expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash 
flows take place. Non-exchange transactions, in which the School gives (or receives) value 
without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include grants and donations. 
Revenue from grants and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility 
requirements have been satisfied. 

 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Governmental funds are reported using the 
current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
Under this method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available. The School 
considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if the revenues are 
collected within sixty days after year-end. These could include federal, State, and county 
grants, and some charges for services. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund 
liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and 
judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent 
they have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital 
leases are reported as other financing sources. 
 
Under the terms of grant agreements, the School funds certain programs by a combination of 
specific cost-reimbursement grants and general revenues. Thus, when program expenses 
are incurred, there is both restricted and unrestricted net position available to finance the 
program. It is the School’s policy to first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such 
programs and then general revenues.  

 

D. Budgetary Data 
 

Annual budgets are adopted for all funds, except for the activity within the clubs and 
activities, on a school-wide basis. All budgets are prepared using the modified accrual basis 
of accounting.  
 
The governing board has voluntarily established the policy, as a sound business practice, 
that expenditures may not exceed appropriations, for all the School’s funds, based on the 
adopted budget and subsequent amendments. During the year, several amendments to the 
original budget were necessary, the effects of which were not material. The budget presented 
in the supplemental data represents the budget of the School at June 30, 2023. All 
appropriations lapse at year end. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity 
 

1. Deposits and Investments 
All deposits of the School are made in a local bank, whose accounts are FDIC 
insured. Also, the School may establish time deposit accounts such as NOW and 
SuperNOW accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit.  
 

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The School pools money from several funds to facilitate disbursement and 
investment and to maximize investment income. All cash held with original maturities 
of three months or less are considered cash and cash equivalents. The School has 
$1,481,374 of cash equivalents as of June 30, 2023. 

 

3. Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The unexpended loan proceeds of the School’s loan agreement and amounts 
restricted for repairs and replacements are classified as restricted cash and cash 
equivalents within the School’s general fund because its use is completely restricted 
to the purpose for which the bonds were originally issued, and for future repairs and 
replacements as authorized by the loan agreement.  

 

4. Accounts Receivable 
Accounts receivable consists of amounts owed to the School from sales tax and local 
school administrative units. The School has reviewed the receivable balances and 
determined the amounts to be fully collectible. 

 
5.  Capital Assets 

The School’s donated capital assets received prior to June 15, 2015 are recorded at 
their estimated fair value at the date of donation. Donated capital assets received 
after June 15, 2015 are recorded at acquisition value. All other capital assets are 
recorded at original cost. The total of these estimates is not considered large enough 
that any errors would be material when capital assets are considered as a whole. 
 
It is the policy of the School to capitalize all capital assets costing more than $2,500 
with an estimated useful life of two or more years. In addition, other items which are 
purchased and used in large quantities such as student desks and office furniture are 
capitalized. Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful 
lives of the related capital assets. All depreciable assets are depreciated using the 
straight-line method of depreciation. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that 
do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are not 
capitalized. 
 
Capital assets are depreciated over their useful lives on a straight-line basis as 
follows: 

 
 Years 
School equipment  5 
Building improvements 15-40 
Building 40 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity (Continued) 
 

6. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement 
element, Deferred Outflows of Resources, represents a consumption of net position 
that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an expense or 
expenditure until then. The School has no items that meet this criterion. In addition to 
liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred 
Inflows of Resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future 
period and so will not be recognized as revenue until then. The School has no items 
that meet the criterion for this category. 

 
7. Long-Term Obligations 
 In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund 

financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or 
proprietary fund-type statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are 
deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method that 
approximates the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the 
applicable bond premiums or discount. Bond issuance costs, except for prepaid 
insurance costs, are expensed in the reporting period in which they are incurred. 
Prepaid insurance costs are expensed over the life of the debt.  
 
In fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face 
amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on 
debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt 
issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not 
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service 
expenditures.  
 

8. Compensated Absences 
Employees are granted ten personal leave days each year, which include vacation 
and sick days. An unlimited amount of personal leave days may be carried over to 
the following year or employees may be paid out up to 10 days. Employees who 
leave or are terminated do not have the right to be paid unused leave, thus no 
accrual is provided for compensated absences. 

 
9. Net Position and Fund Balances 
 

Net Position 
Net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are 
classified as net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted. Restricted 
net position represents constraints on resources that are either externally imposed by 
creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or 
imposed by law through State statute. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity (Continued) 
 

9. Net Position and Fund Balances (Continued) 
 

Fund Balance 
In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance is composed of three 
classifications (out of five possible classifications) designed to disclose the hierarchy 
of constraints placed on how fund balance can be spent. 

 
The governmental fund types classify fund balances as follows: 

 
Restricted – This classification includes amounts that are restricted to specific 
purposes externally imposed by creditors or imposed by law. 
 
Assigned – The amount of fund balance that the School intends to use for specific 
purposes. 

  
Assigned for Clubs and Activities fund – Revenue sources restricted for 
expenditures for the various clubs and organizations, athletic events, and 
various fund-raising activities, for which they were collected. 
 

Unassigned – The portion of fund balance that has not been assigned to another 
fund or restricted, committed or assigned to specific purposes within the General 
Fund. 

 

The School has a revenue spending policy that provides guidance for programs with 
multiple revenue sources. The finance officer of the School will use resources in the 
following hierarchy: federal funds, State funds, local non-board of education funds, 
board of education funds. For purposes of fund balance classification, expenditures 
are to be spent from restricted fund balance first, followed in-order by committed fund 
balance, assigned fund balance, and lastly, unassigned fund balance. The finance 
officer of the School has the authority to deviate from this policy if it is in the best 
interest of the School. DRAFT
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity (Continued) 
  

10. Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Statements 
The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between 
governmental funds’ total fund balance and governmental activities’ net position as 
reported in the government-wide statement of net position. The net adjustment of 
($1,132,974) represents the amount that the total fund balances of governmental 
funds exceeds the net position of governmental activities and consists of several 
elements as follows: 
 

Capital assets used in governmental activities 
are not financial resources and therefore not 
reported in the fund (total capital assets on 
government-wide statement in governmental 
activities column). $ 10,440,161 
 
Less accumulated depreciation  (1,970,253) 

 
Liabilities that, because they are not due and 
payable in the current period, do not require 
current resources to pay and are therefore not 
reported in the fund statements: 
  
 Bond payable  (9,865,000) 

 
 Discounts on bond issuance  355,093 
 
 Accumulated amortization of  
 discounts on bond issuance  (92,975) 
 
Total adjustment $ (1,132,974) 

 
F. Revenues, Expenditures, and Expenses 

 
1. Funding 

The School is funded by the SBE receiving (i) an amount equal to the average per 
pupil allocation for the average daily membership (“ADM”) from the local school 
administrative unit allotments in which the School is located (i.e. Wake County Board 
of Education) for each child attending the School except for the allocation for children 
with special needs and (ii) an additional amount for each child attending the School 
who is a child with special needs (G.S. 115C-218.105(a)).  
 
Subject to certain limitations, funds allocated by the SBE may be used to enter into 
operational and financing leases for real property or mobile classroom units for use 
as school facilities for charter schools and may be used for payments on loans made 
to charter schools for facilities, equipment, or operations (G.S. 115C-218.105(b)). 
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1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

F. Revenues, Expenditures, and Expenses (Continued) 
 

1. Funding (Continued) 
Additionally, the School receives for each student an amount equal to the per pupil 
share of the local current expense fund of the local school administrative unit in which 
the child resides (G.S. 115C-218.105(c)). Amounts transferred that consist of 
revenue from supplemental taxes shall be transferred only to a charter school located 
in the district where the taxes are levied and the child resides.  
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the School received funding from the 
Boards of Education for Wake County ($901,214), Granville County ($6,406), Town 
of Chapel Hill ($48,670), Durham County ($1,359,844), Chatham County ($34,885), 
Franklin County ($2,122), Orange County ($61,503), Cumberland County ($1,702), 
and Alamance County ($1,903). 

 

Furthermore, the School has received donations of cash and/or equipment from 
private organizations. The cash is available to be used throughout the year for the 
School’s various programs and activities. 

 
2. Reconciliation Between Government-Wide and Fund Statements 

The governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balance is followed by a reconciliation between the change in the fund balance of the 
governmental funds and the change in the net position of governmental activities as 
reported on the government-wide statement of activities.  
 
The net difference of ($33,930) between the two amounts represents the amount that 
the change in fund balances of governmental funds exceed the change in net 
position of governmental activities and consists of the following elements: 
 

Capital outlay expenditures recorded in the fund 
statements but capitalized as assets on the 
statement of activities. $ 63,870 
 
Depreciation expense that is recorded on the 
statement of activities but not in the fund 
statements.  (299,466) 
 
Loss on disposal of capital assets that is 
recorded on the statement of activities but not in 
the fund statements.  (6,465) 
 
Principal payments on debt owed are recorded 
as a use of funds on the fund statements but 
again affect only the statement of net position in 
the government-wide statements.  220,000 
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1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

F. Revenues, Expenditures, and Expenses (Continued) 
 

2. Reconciliation Between Government Wide and Fund Statements (Continued) 
 

Expenses reported on the statement of activities 
that do not require the use of current resources 
to pay are not recorded as expenditures in the 
fund statements. 
 
 Amortization of bond issuance 
 costs to interest expense  (11,869) 
 
 $ (33,930) 

 
G. Use of Estimates and Assumptions 
 

Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial statements. Those 
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported revenues and expenditures. 

 
 
2. Detail Notes on All Funds 
 

A.  Assets 
 

1.  Deposits 
At June 30, 2023, the School had deposits with banks and savings and loans with a 
carrying amount of $3,775,817. The bank balance with the financial institutions was 
$3,959,552, of which $3,573,141 was uninsured. The School does not have a deposit 
policy for custodial credit risk. DRAFT
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2. Detail Notes on All Funds (Continued) 
 

A.  Assets (Continued) 
 

2. Capital Assets 
Capital asset activity related to governmental activities for the year ended June 30, 
2023, was as follows: 

   
  Beginning        Ending 
  Balances   Increases   Decreases   Balances  
Governmental activities: 
 Capital assets not being depreciated: 
  Land $ 1,450,000 $ - $ - $ 1,450,000 
  Construction in progress  29,672  7,750  -  37,422 
    Total capital assets not being   
          depreciated  1,479,672  7,750  -  1,487,422 
Capital assets being depreciated: 
  Building  4,869,183  -  -  4,869,183 
  Building improvements  3,430,303  51,233  -  3,481,536 
  School equipment  661,996  4,887  (64,863)  602,020 
    Total capital assets being  

depreciated  8,961,482  56,120  (64,863)  8,952,739 
 Less accumulated depreciation: 
  Building  892,685  121,730  -  1,014,415 
  Building improvements  472,562  87,013  -  559,575 
  School equipment  363,938  90,723  (58,398)  396,263 
 
   Total accumulated depreciation  1,729,185 $ 299,466 $ (58,398)  1,970,253 
    Total capital assets being 
    depreciated, net  7,232,297     6,982,486 
Total governmental activities capital  
      assets, net $ 8,711,969     $ 8,469,908 
 

Depreciation expense charged to governmental functions for the year ended June 
30, 2023 is summarized as follows: 

 
 Instructional programs $ 149,733  
 Supporting services  149,733 
 

  $ 299,466  
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2. Detail Notes on All Funds (Continued) 
 
B. Liabilities 
 

1.   Retirement Plan 
The School does not participate in the North Carolina Teachers’ and State 
Employees’ Retirement System. 

 
The School offers a 457(b) retirement plan to its employees. Under the plan, the 
School contributes an amount equal to the employees’ contributions up to a limit of 
3% of the employees’ compensation for the calendar year. The employee may make 
voluntary contributions, pursuant to a salary reduction agreement of a percentage of 
annual compensation not to exceed the limits set by the Internal Revenue Code.  
  
During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the School contributed 
a total of $52,864, $62,726, and $62,708, respectively, under the 457(b) retirement 
plan. 
  

2.   Risk Management  
The School is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts; theft of, damage to, 
and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural 
disasters. The School maintains general liability and errors and omissions insurance 
coverage of $1 million per occurrence with a commercial carrier. 
 
As authorized by G.S. 115C-218.90(a)(4), the School also participates in the 
Teachers’ and State Employees’ Comprehensive Major Medical Plan (the “Medical 
Plan”), a self-funded risk financing pool of the State administered by Blue Cross and 
Blue Shield of North Carolina. Through this plan, permanent full-time employees of 
the School are eligible to receive health care benefits. The School pays the full cost 
of coverage for employees enrolled in the medical plan. 
 
The School carries commercial coverage for all other risks of loss. There have been 
no significant reductions in insurance coverage in the prior year and claims have not 
exceeded coverage in any of the past two fiscal years. 
 
The School has elected not to carry flood insurance because the School is not in an 
area of the State that has been mapped and designated an “A” area (an area close to 
a river, lake or stream) by the Federal Emergency Management Agency. 
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2. Detail Notes on All Funds (Continued) 
 

B.  Liabilities (Continued) 
 

3. Long-Term Obligations 
 

a. Bonds Payable 
 
In August 2015, the School entered into a loan agreement associated with the 
issuance of revenue bonds in the aggregate of $11,060,000. The bonds were issued 
at an aggregate discount of $355,093. Proceeds of the bonds were used to repay the 
bridge loan used to originally finance the purchase of a building, as well as to provide 
renovations to the building. Additional proceeds were used to fund reserve funds as 
required by the agreement. Interest during the term ranges from 4.375% - 6.125%. 
Principal payments began in July 2017 and continue through maturity in July 2045. 
The real estate has been pledged as collateral for the debt. In the event of a default 
as defined in the loan agreement, the lender may declare any remaining principal 
and interest payments due to be immediately payable by the School. The balance 
outstanding net of discounts at June 30, 2023 totaled $9,602,882. 
 
Future minimum payments are as follows: 
 

     Cash Paid   Amortization   Total    
     Interest  Bond Discount      Interest        Principal  
 
Year Ending June 30, 2024 $ 532,425 $ 11,869 $ 544,294 $ 230,000 
Year Ending June 30, 2025  522,144  11,869  534,013  240,000 
Year Ending June 30, 2026  511,425  11,869  523,294  250,000 
Year Ending June 30, 2027  498,834  11,869  510,703  265,000 
Year Ending June 30, 2028    484,188  11,869  496,057  280,000 
Years Ending June 30, 2029-2033   2,172,478  59,347  2,231,825  1,635,000 
Years Ending June 30, 2034-2038   1,669,541  59,347  1,728,888  2,115,000 
Years Ending June 30, 2039-2043   990,563  59,347  1,049,910  2,780,000 
Years Ending June 30, 2044-2046   179,156  24,729  203,885  2,070,000 
 
    $ 7,560,753 $ 262,118 $ 7,822,871 $ 9,865,000 
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2. Detail Notes on All Funds (Continued) 
 

B. Liabilities (Continued) 
 

3. Long-Term Obligations (Continued) 
 

a. Bonds Payable (Continued) 
 

Under the terms of the bond agreement, the School is obligated under certain debt 
covenants to maintain days cash on hand of 45 days for the year ending June 30, 
2023. The calculation of this covenant for the year ended June 30, 2023 is as follows: 
 
 Total operating expenses  $ 6,625,267 
 
 Divided by 365 days   365 
 
 Operating expense per day   18,151 
 
 Multiplied by 45 days   45 
 Minimum balance required for  
 Unrestricted cash and investments $ 816,795 
 
 Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents $ 2,294,443 
 
Under the terms of the bond agreement, the School is obligated under certain debt 
covenants to maintain debt service coverage ratio at or above 1.00 to 1 for the year 
ended June 30, 2017 and 1.20 to 1 for each subsequent year. The calculation of this 
covenant for the year ended June 30, 2023 is as follows: 

      
Change in net assets for 
year ended June 30, 2023   $ 147,078 
 
Add: interest expense    549,325 
 
Add: depreciation and amortization expense   299,466 
 
Add: loss on disposal of capital assets    6,465 

 
Net income available for debt service   1,002,334 
 
Maximum annual debt service    $ 762,425 
 
Cash flow coverage ratio     1.31 
 
Additionally, the School must maintain minimum enrollment of 490. The School’s 
actual enrollment was 573 as of June 30, 2023.  
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2. Detail Notes on All Funds (Continued) 
 

B. Liabilities (Continued) 
 

3. Long-Term Obligations (Continued) 
 
b. Changes in General Long-Term Obligations  

  
The following is a summary of changes in the School’s long-term obligations for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2023: 

 
  Balance         Balance   Current 
 June 30, 2022  Increases   Decreases  June 30, 2023  Portion  
 
 Bond Payable $ 10,085,000 $ - $ (220,000) $ 9,865,000 $ 230,000 
  
 Discounts on  
  Debt Issuance  (273,987)  -  11,869  (262,118)  -  
 
 Total Long-Term           
 Liabilities  $ 9,811,013 $ - $ (208,131) $ 9,602,882 $ 230,000 
 
     

C. Fund Balance 
 

The School has a revenue spending policy that provides policy for programs with multiple 
revenue sources. The finance officer of the School will use resources in the following 
hierarchy; federal funds, State funds, local non-School funds, and School funds. For 
purposes of fund balance classification, expenditures are to be spent from restricted fund 
balance first, followed in order by committed fund balance, assigned fund balance, and lastly, 
unassigned fund balance. The finance officer may deviate from this policy if it is in the best 
interest of the School. 
 
The following schedule provides management and the School with information on the portion 
of general fund balance that is available for appropriation as of June 30, 2023: 
 

 Total fund balance $ 3,483,452 
 Less:   
  Restricted for debt service  (1,481,374) 
  
  Remaining fund balance $ 2,002,078 
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3. Related Party Transactions 
During the year ended June 30, 2023, the School began a project to assist with replicating the School 
by creating West Triangle. In September 2022, the replication was not deemed feasible. The School 
paid $4,775 in legal expenses on behalf of the new charter school being formed. See Note 1. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2023, the School paid a former board member $65,000 in consulting 
fees. 

 

 

4. Summary Disclosure of Significant Contingencies 
 

Federal and State Assisted Programs 
The School has received proceeds from several federal and State grants. Periodic audits of these 
grants are required, and certain costs may be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures 
under the grant agreements. Such audits could result in the refund of grant monies to the grantor 
agencies. Management believes that any required refunds will be immaterial. No provision has been 
made in the accompanying financial statements for the refund of grant monies.  

 
 
5. Significant Effects of Subsequent Events 

 
Management evaluates events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements in 
determining the accounting for and disclosure of transactions and events that affect the financial 
statements. Subsequent events have been evaluated through October 23, 2023 which is the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued. 
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CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC.
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General, State Public School, and Federal Grant Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Favorable
Final (Unfavorable)

Budget Actual Variance
Revenues:

State of North Carolina $ 3,866,399       $ 3,866,399         $ -                   
Boards of education:

Wake County 900,779 901,214 435
Town of Chapel Hill 48,670 48,670 -                   
Granville County 6,300 6,406 106                  
Durham County 1,357,292 1,359,844 2,552               
Chatham County 34,885 34,885 -                   
Franklin County 2,110 2,122 12                    
Orange County 61,425 61,503 78                    
Cumberland County 1,638 1,702 64                    
Alamance County 1,903 1,903 -                   

U.S. Government 221,263 274,262 52,999             
Miscellaneous 60,300 7,867 (52,433)            
Contributions and donations 25,000 21,622 (3,378)              
Sales tax 25,000            24,052 (948)                 
Investment earnings 2,000 2,197 197

Total revenues 6,614,964 6,614,648 (316)

Expenditures:
Current:

Instructional programs:
Regular programs 4,858,523 3,162,405 1,696,118
Special programs 255,000 313,072 (58,072)
Other 126,562 1,409,093 (1,282,531)

Total instructional programs 5,240,085 4,884,570 355,515

Support services:
Administrative services -                  12,673 (12,673)
Business support -                  548,163            (548,163)
Other support 535,704          187,175 348,529

Total support services 535,704 748,011 (212,307)

Capital outlay -                  63,870              (63,870)            

2023

32

DRAFT

52 of 85Powered by BoardOnTrack

Research Triangle High School - Board Meeting - Agenda - Wednesday November 15, 2023 at 5:30 PM



Statement 1

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual (Continued)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

Favorable
Final (Unfavorable)

Budget Actual Variance

Debt service:
Interest $ 542,269          $ 537,456            $ 4,813
Principal 230,000          220,000            10,000

Total debt service 772,269          757,456            14,813             

Total expenditures 6,548,058       6,453,907         94,151             

Other financing sources (uses):
Fund balance appropriated (66,906)           -                    66,906             

Total other financing 
     sources (uses) (66,906)           -                    66,906             

Excess of revenues over 
     expenditures $ -                  $ 160,741            $ 160,741           

33
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CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC.

General, State Public School, and Federal Grant Funds
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL  

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Contemporary Science Center, Inc. 
Research Triangle Park, North Carolina 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Contemporary Science Center, 
Inc. (the “School”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s basic financial statements, 
and have issued our report thereon dated October 23, 2023.  

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Contemporary Science 
Center, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider material weaknesses. We did identify certain deficiencies 
in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 
2023-5 that we consider to be a significant deficiency. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could 
have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express 
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards and which are described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2023-1, 2023-2, 2023-3, and 2023-4.  
 
Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s Response to Findings 
 
Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on Contemporary 
Science Center, Inc.’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying 
schedule of findings and questioned costs. Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s response was not 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we 
express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this 
communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
 
Raleigh, North Carolina 
October 23, 2023 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR 
STATE PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE 

UNIFORM GUIDANCE AND THE STATE SINGLE AUDIT IMPLEMENTATION ACT 
 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Contemporary Science Center, Inc. 
Research Triangle Park, North Carolina 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major State Program 
 
We have audited Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s (the “School”) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the Audit Manual for 
Governmental Auditors in North Carolina, issued by the Local Government Commission, that could have a 
direct and material effect on each of Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s major State programs for the year 
ended June 30, 2023. Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s major State programs are identified in the 
summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
In our opinion, Contemporary Science Center, Inc. complied, in all material respects, with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major 
State programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major State Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and the State Single Audit Implementation 
Act.  Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. We are required to be independent 
of Contemporary Science Center, Inc. and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
State program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Contemporary Science Center, Inc.'s 
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to 
Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s programs. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will 
always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance 
resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report 
on compliance about Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s compliance with the requirements of each 
major State program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we 
 

 exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on 
a test basis, evidence regarding Contemporary Science Center, Inc.'s compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 
 obtain an understanding of Contemporary Science Center, Inc.'s internal control over compliance 

relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Contemporary 
Science Center, Inc.'s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Other Matters 
 
The results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance, which are required to be 
reported in accordance with Uniform Guidance and which are described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs as items 2023-1, 2023-2, 2023-3, and 2023-4. Our opinion on each major 
State program is not modified with respect to these matters. 
 
Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on Contemporary 
Science Center, Inc.’s response to the noncompliance findings identified in our audit described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Contemporary Science Center, Inc.’s response 
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was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, 
we express no opinion on the response. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
State program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a State program will not 
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a State program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal 
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over compliance.  Given these limitations, during 
our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be 
material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not 
identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
OMB Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
Raleigh, North Carolina 
October 23, 2023 
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CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 
SECTION I – SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS 
 
 
Financial Statements 
 
Type of auditors’ report issued on whether the financial statements audited were prepared in accordance 
with GAAP: Unmodified 
 
Internal control over financial reporting: 
 
 Material weakness (es) identified?   Yes  X No 
 
 Significant Deficiency(s) identified?  X Yes   None Reported 
 
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?   Yes  X No 
 
 
State Awards 
 
Internal control over major State programs: 
 
 Material weakness identified?   Yes  X No 
 
 Significant Deficiency(s) identified?   Yes  X None Reported 
 
Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major State programs: Unmodified 
 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be 
reported in accordance with the State Single Audit 
Implementation Act?  X Yes   No 
 
Identification of major State programs: 
 
 Program Name 
 State Public School Fund 
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CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

 
 
SECTION II – FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 
 
Finding 2023-5 
 
Contract 
 
Criteria:   In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, all expenses of the School should 
be supported by proper documentation. 
 
Condition:   The School signed a contract with a former board member during the year ended June 30, 
2023. The terms of the contract specified that 80% of the agreement would be for work relating to West 
Triangle High School, a new charter school that Research Triangle High School had received approval to 
replicate from the Office of Charter Schools. The remaining 20% of the agreement would be for work 
relating to Research Triangle High School. In September 2022, management determined that the 
replication would not be feasible. Accordingly, a separate legal entity was created and the Office of Charter 
Schools approved the transfer of West Triangle to be created under the separate legal entity. However, 
80% of the costs of the contract were not transferred to West Triangle. Management determined that 100% 
of the consultant’s work was for the sole purpose of the School. However, the contract was not amended to 
reflect this. 
 
Effect:   Without an amendment to the existing contract, there is no credible evidence that the work 
performed by the consultant was for the sole purpose of the Research Triangle High School and no work 
performed by the consultant for West Triangle High School. 
 
Cause:   Proper evidence does not exist to support that the consulting expenses incurred by the School 
were solely for Research Triangle High School. 
 
Questioned Costs:   $52,000. The total amount paid to the consultant was $65,000. In accordance with the 
executed contract, 20% was for Research Triangle High School and 80% was for West Triangle High 
School. $52,000 represents 80% of the $65,000 paid to the consultant. 
 
Recommendation:   We recommend that the School ensure that all amounts paid by the School are in 
accordance with executed contracts or amendments thereof, and that amendments to contracts due to 
scope of work changes are executed prior to payments for those contracts. 
 
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: The School agrees with this finding and will 
implement the recommendation. 
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CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

 
 
SECTION III – STATE AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 
Finding 2023-1 
 
Teacher Certification Testing 
 
Criteria:   The charter school must comply with applicable North Carolina General Statutes, specifically 
Chapter 115C, Article 14A and Article 31. North Carolina General Statutes require that 50% of the School’s 
teachers hold current certifications. 
 
Condition:   The School maintained documentation for teacher certifications, however only ____% were 
certified, which is less than the 50% minimum requirement. 
 
Effect:   Without the required number of certified teachers, the School may not be able to provide the level 
of education that it is required to uphold by having at least 50% of its teachers certified. 
 
Cause:   The School does not have the proper internal control procedures in place to ensure that the 
requirement was met and the related documentation was maintained as evidence of meeting the 
requirement. 
 
Questioned Costs:   None 
 
Recommendation:   We recommend that the School have policies and procedures in place and effectively 
operating to ensure that it is properly monitoring teacher licenses to ensure that at least 50% of its teachers 
are certified. 
 
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: The School agrees with this finding and will 
implement the recommendation. 
 
Finding 2023-2 
 
Salary Cap for State Funded Salaries 
 
Criteria:   The charter school must comply with applicable North Carolina General Assembly Session Law 
2015-241, Section 6.26, Cap State Funded Portion of Nonprofit Salaries, which requires that no more than 
one hundred twenty thousand dollars in State funds be used for the annual salary of an individual 
employee of a nonprofit organization receiving State funds.  
 
Condition:   The School paid an individual employee $17,500 in excess of the one hundred twenty 
thousand dollar annual salary cap. 
 
Effect:   The School was out of compliance with the requirement that no more than one hundred twenty 
thousand dollars in State funds may be used for the annual salary of an individual employee of a nonprofit 
organization receiving State funds.  
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CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

 
 

Cause:   The School does not have the proper internal control procedures in place to ensure that salaries 
for individual employees used by State funds do not exceed the cap of $120,000 per individual employee 
on an annual basis. 
 
Questioned Costs:   None 
 
Recommendation:   We recommend that the School implement policies and procedures to ensure that no 
individual is paid with State funds over the annual salary threshold. 
 
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: The School agrees with this finding and will 
implement the recommendation. 
 
 
Finding 2023-3 
 
Exceptional Student Education – Consent Forms 
 
Criteria:   The charter school should be in compliance with documentation requirements that support each 
child that is determined to have a need for exceptional student education. 
 
Condition:   The School maintained documentation for all students selected for testing, however three out 
of five students selected for testing did not have the required signed parental consent form. 
 
Effect:   Without parental consent, there is a possibility that the child did not qualify for exceptional student 
education services. 
 
Cause:   The School was not able to obtain the signed parental consent forms during the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2023. 
 
Questioned Costs:   None 
 
Recommendation:   We recommend that the School have proper follow up procedures in place to obtain 
required parental consent forms. 
 
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: The School agrees with this finding and will 
implement the recommendation. 
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CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
(Continued) 

 
Finding 2023-4 
 
Exceptional Student Education – Teacher Certification 
 
Criteria:   The charter school must comply with applicable North Carolina General Statutes, specifically 
Chapter 115C, Article 14A and Article 31. North Carolina General Statutes require that all exceptional staff 
should have an active license certified in exceptional education.  
 
Condition:   The School maintained documentation for teacher certifications, however one exceptional child 
teacher was unable to provide a current license. A license that expired on June 30, 2021 was the only 
evidence that was able to be provided. 
 
Effect:   Without having a teacher certified in exceptional children, the School may not be able to provide 
the level of education that it is required to teach students that are classified within the exceptional child 
category. 
 
Cause:   The School does not have the proper internal control procedures in place to ensure that the 
requirement was met and the related documentation was maintained as evidence of meeting the 
requirement. 
 
Questioned Costs:   None 
 
Recommendation:   We recommend that the School have policies and procedures in place and effectively 
operating to ensure that it is properly monitoring teacher licenses to ensure that at least 50% of its teachers 
are certified. 
 
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: The School agrees with this finding and will 
implement the recommendation. 
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ON SCHOOL LETTERHEAD 
 

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 
SECTION III – STATE AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

 
Finding: 2023 – 1 

 
Name of Contact Persons: Brandon Mitchell, Director of Operations 
 
Corrective Action: ______________.  
 
Proposed Completion Date: ______________ 
 
 
Finding: 2023 – 2 

 
Name of Contact Persons: Brandon Mitchell, Director of Operations 
 
Corrective Action: ______________.  
 
Proposed Completion Date: ______________ 
 
 
Finding: 2023 – 3 

 
Name of Contact Persons: Brandon Mitchell, Director of Operations 
 
Corrective Action: ______________.  
 
Proposed Completion Date: ______________ 
 
 
Finding: 2023 – 4 

 
Name of Contact Persons: Brandon Mitchell, Director of Operations 
 
Corrective Action: ______________.  
 
Proposed Completion Date: ______________ 
 
Finding: 2023 – 4 

 
Name of Contact Persons: Brandon Mitchell, Director of Operations 
 
Corrective Action: ______________.  
 
Proposed Completion Date: ______________ 
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CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC. 
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 
None. 
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State/
Federal Pass-through

Grantor/Pass-through CFDA Grantor's Expendi-
Grantor/Program Title Number Number tures

Federal Grants:
Cash Assistance:
U.S. Department of Education
Direct Grant:

Rural Education Achievement Program 84.358A XXXX $ 53,000

Passed-through the N.C. Department of Public Instruction:
Title VI-B Cluster:

Title VI-B Handicapped 84.027A PRC 060 100,772

Total VI-B Cluster: 100,772

COVID-19 - Education Stabilization Fund:
CARES Act:

Cares Act: Specialized Instructional Support Personnel - GEER I 84.425D PRC 169 3,011
CRRSA:

CRRSA: Instructional Support Contract - ESSER II 84.425D PRC 173 3,756
CRRSA: Learning Loss Funding - ESSER II 84.425D PRC 176 17,292

ARP:
ARP: Public School Unit Supplemental Funding - ESSER III 84.425U PRC 182 90,328

Total COVID-19 - Education Stabilization Fund: 114,387

Title II Improving Teacher Quality 84.367A PRC 103 6,103

Total U.S. Department of Education 274,262       

Total Federal Assistance 274,262       

State Grants:
Cash Assistance:
N.C. Department of Public Instruction:

State Public School Fund xxxxx PRC 036 3,843,047
Principal and Teacher Performance Bonuses xxxxx PRC 048 23,352

Total State Assistance 3,866,399    

Total Federal and State Assistance $ 4,140,661    

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards:

Note 1: Basis of Presentation

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Note 3: Indirect Cost Rate 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal and State awards (SEFSA) includes the federal and State grant activity of
the School under the programs of the federal government and the State of North Carolina for the year ended June 30, 2023. The
information in this SEFSA is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 of US Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and the State Single Audit
Implementation Act. Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the School, it is not intended to and
does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the School.

Expenditures reported in the SEFSA are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized
following the cost principles contained in Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited. 

The School has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.

CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC.
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AND STATE AWARDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

 45

DRAFT
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FY 2023‐24 Budget Update 10.31.23

Research Triangle  High School

FY 2023‐2024          

Approved Budget  

FY 2023 ‐2024 

Working Budget

Actuals as of 

10.31.23 33% Comments:

ADM 585 562 Updated to ADM on PMR 1 report
State Funding  per ADM  $                          6,337.20    $                      6,581.22   Updated $ per ADM
EC  ADM 44 29 Updated HC based on Initial Allotment
State EC  Funding  per ADM  $                          5,275.72    $                      5,249.28   Updated $ per ADM

Revenue

State Funds ‐  Revenue 3,707,262                               3,698,646                           1,439,600                 39%

State EC  Funds  232,132                                   152,229                               ‐                                  0%

State Funds ‐  NCVPS (10,306)                                 (9,470)                                ‐                                  0%

State Funds ‐  Fines & Forfeitures 6,700                                         6,700                                     ‐                                  0%

State Funds ‐  COVID‐19 ‐                                              ‐                                 

State Funds ‐  Other Funds (non‐recurring) ‐                                              ‐                                 

   Total State  Funding 3,935,788                               3,848,105                           1,439,600                   37%

Alamance County Funds 1,903                                         1,941                                     219                                 11%

Chapel Hill Funds 53,537                                      44,679                                  12,220                         27%

Chatham County Funds 33,666                                      19,077                                  6,840                            36%

Durham County Funds 1,216,584                               1,303,500                           331,800                      25% Updated $/ADM based on PMR 1 payment

Franklin  County Funds    2,167                                         ‐                                          ‐                                 

Granville County Funds 6,300                                         4,284                                     1,489                            35%

Harnett County Funds ‐                                              1,800                                     148                                 8%

Cumberland  County Funds  1,638                                         1,671                                     ‐                                  0%

Orange County Funds  61,425                                      62,654                                  7,620                            12%

Wake County Funds 905,772                                   922,320                               228,600                      25% Updated $/ADM based on PMR 1 payment

Mecklenburg County Funds ‐                                              ‐                                          ‐                                 

   Total County Funding 2,282,991                               2,361,926                           588,935                       25%

Federal Funds ‐  PRC 060  (EC) 85,433                                      85,433                                  ‐                                  0%

Federal Funds ‐  PRC 050 ‐                                              ‐                                          ‐                                 

Federal Funds ‐  PRC 103 6,098                                         6,098                                     ‐                                  0%

Federal Funds ‐  PRC 108 ‐                                              ‐                                          ‐                                 

Federal Funds ‐  PRC 118 1,100                                         2,273                                     2,273                            100%

Federal Funds ‐  COVID‐19 ‐                                 

Grant Funds SRSA  49,471                                      49,471                                  ‐                                  0%

   Total Federal Funding 142,102                                   143,275                               2,273                             2%

Sales & Use Tax Refund 25,000                                      25,000                                  ‐                                  0%

Corporate/Board/Private Donations 50,000                                      50,000                                  3,116                            6%

Interest Income 2,000                                         2,000                                     687                                 34%

Other  ‐                                              1,020                                     1,020                            100%

Total Revenue 6,437,881                               6,431,326                           2,035,630                   32%

Expenses

Principal 240,000                                   240,000                               80,000                         33%

Interest 532,425                                   532,425                               168,652                      32%

Bond  Costs 8,600                                         8,600                                     ‐                                  0%

Repair and  Replacement Fund  Transfer 85,800                                      85,800                                  28,600                         33%

Capitalized  Improvements/Purchases ‐                                              ‐                                          ‐                                 

Building Expenses

Utilities    ‐  elec, water and  trash                                    90,000                                      90,000                                  29,381                         33%

Telephone/Communications 4,011                                         4,011                                     862                                 21%

Maintenance & Repair 52,922                                      52,922                                  21,981                         42%

Custodial ‐  Supplies/Materials 24,000                                      24,000                                  6,176                            26%

Facility Contracted  Services: ‐                                 

Custodial Services 88,772                                      88,772                                  22,193                         25%

Carpet ‐  Tile Cleaning 12,450                                      12,450                                  6,226                            50%

HVAC 9,856                                         9,856                                     7,417                            75%

Grounds ‐  Landscaping 12,000                                      12,000                                  2,060                            17%

   Total Building Expenses 294,011                                   294,011                               96,297                          33%

Personnel Costs

Salaries 3,601,678                               3,511,954                           1,190,490                 34% Current Staff as of 10/31/23; Mitchell terming 12/31/23

Substitutes 60,000                                      60,000                                  18,005                         30%

Personal Leave 5,400                                         5,400                                     ‐                                  0%

Health  Insurance ‐  State Plan 369,637                                   382,329                               111,018                      29% Current participation and new rate effective 1/1/24

Retirement ‐  State 457  Plan  + Match   70,233                                      56,894                                  16,405                         29% Currently only have a 54% participation rate

Payroll Taxes ‐  7.65%   275,528                                   268,665                               90,995                         34%

NC Flex Plan  Fees 6,000                                         6,000                                     1,298                            22%

SUTA 10,873                                      10,873                                  1,123                            10%

Workers Comp  Insurance 14,000                                      14,000                                  ‐                                  0%

Bonus 70,000                                      14,500                                  ‐                                  0%

   Total Personnel Costs 4,483,349                               4,330,614                           1,429,335                   33%

Information Technology 

Technology 40,000                                      40,000                                  46,097                         115%

Digital Resources & SW Licenses 43,434                                      43,434                                  13,535                         31%

Total Information  Technology 83,434                                      83,434                                  59,632                          71%
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FY 2023‐24 Budget Update 10.31.23

Research Triangle  High School

FY 2023‐2024          

Approved Budget  

FY 2023 ‐2024 

Working Budget

Actuals as of 

10.31.23 33% Comments:

Instructional Services

Staff  Development 19,000                                      19,000                                  3,754                            20%

Counseling ‐  Staff  Dev 1,500                                         1,500                                     ‐                                  0%

Travel & Mileage Reimbursement 5,000                                         5,000                                     ‐                                  0%

Staff  Dev ‐  PD Meals 10,000                                      10,000                                  3,874                            39%

Staff  Development ‐  EC 2,000                                         2,000                                     ‐                                  0%

Educational Programs 29,000                                      18,200                                  7,317                            40% Total Edu Materials of $50K did not change.  

Edu  Materials ‐  Science Dept 5,000                                         5,000                                     3,063                            61%

Edu  Materials ‐  Languages Dept 3,000                                         6,000                                     5,418                            90%

Edu  Materials ‐  History Dept 2,000                                         5,000                                     4,714                            94%

Edu  Materials ‐  Arts Dept 5,000                                         5,000                                     2,170                            43%

Edu  Materials ‐  Math  Dept 2,000                                         2,000                                     662                                 33%

Edu  Materials ‐  PE Dept 2,000                                         6,500                                     6,077                            93%

Education  Materials ‐  EC  Dept 2,000                                         2,300                                     2,277                            99%

Testing (AP/PSAT) 7,566                                         7,566                                     5,087                            67%

Textbooks/Assessment 10,000                                      10,000                                  909                                 9%

Social Service Fund 500                                             500                                         ‐                                  0%

Furniture & Fixtures 5,000                                         5,000                                     2,435                            49%

Administrative Expenses 9,000                                         9,000                                     6,171                            69%

EC  Contracted  Services: ($50,000  FY23) ‐                                 

Visually Impared  & Orientation   8,500                                         8,500                                     506                                 6%

Speech‐Language Therapy  20,000                                      20,000                                  3,113                            16%

Mental Health  Service 10,000                                      10,000                                  ‐                                  0%

Web‐based  IEP  Service 3,825                                         3,825                                     ‐                                  0%

Occupational Therapy 500                                             500                                         ‐                                  0%

Interpreting and  Written  Translation  Service ‐                                 

Psychoeducational Assessments 6,300                                         6,300                                     5,700                            90%

   Total Instructional Services 168,691                                   168,691                               63,247                          37%

Support Services

Administration  Contracted  Services: ‐                                 

Legal & Consulting  50,000                                      50,000                                  39,124                         78%

Contracted  Financial Services 47,355                                      54,855                                  18,285                         33% Added Clubs and Robotics to contract

LINQ Software Support 4,995                                         5,495                                     5,495                            100%

Contracted  HR Services 26,880                                      26,880                                  9,010                            34%

Student Information  Management Services 20,475                                      20,475                                  6,673                            33%

Contracted  Printing Services 35,183                                      35,183                                  8,532                            24%

Contracted  Audit Services 23,300                                      23,300                                  10,500                         45%

Schoolmint ‐                                 

Background  Checks 1,000                                         1,000                                     984                                 98%

General Insurance 38,000                                      38,000                                  23,906                         63%

Board  of  Director Materials 11,500                                      11,500                                  11,495                         100%

Fundraising/Development 5,000                                         5,000                                     228                                 5%

Marketing/Advertising 8,000                                         8,000                                     2,120                            27%

Transportation  Contracted  Services: ‐                                 

Daily Bus Services 35,000                                      35,000                                  16,630                         48%

Special Event Transportation  Services 3,000                                         3,000                                     1,058                            35%

Transportation  ‐  Fuel 7,000                                         7,000                                     479                                 7%

Transportation  Maintenance 2,000                                         2,000                                     253                                 13%

Food  Services 22,000                                      22,000                                  8,516                            39%

   Total Support Services 340,688                                   348,687                               163,286                       47%

Other Expenses

Athletics 56,650                                      56,650                                  8,291                            15%

COVID‐19  Expenses ‐                                 

Counseling/College Dept  5,000                                         5,000                                     865                                 17%

Graduation 5,000                                         5,000                                     1,298                            26%

Senior Class Events 1,000                                         1,000                                     ‐                                  0%

Safety ‐  Off  Duty Off icer 20,000                                      20,000                                  10,564                         53%

Staff  Snacks ( Joy Room) 10,000                                      10,000                                  1,752                            18%

Sales Tax  25,000                                      25,000                                  6,799                            27%

Robotics 9,000                                         9,000                                     ‐                                  0%

Transfer to  Raptorium 100                                             100                                         ‐                                  0%

   Total Other Expenses 131,750                                   131,750                               29,570                          22%

Total Expenses 6,368,747                               6,224,013                           2,118,619                   34%

Surplus 69,134                                      207,313                               (82,988)                       

Surplus from Previous Years 2,133,100                               2,133,100                           2,133,100                  

Ending Cash Balance 2,202,234                               2,340,414                           2,050,112                  

Liquidity Requirement Calculation: Debt Service Coverage Ratio Calculation:

Total Expenses 6,224,013                               Surplus (cash  basis) 207,313                                                                                                                                      

Clubs, PTSO, Boosters Expenses (projected) 450,000                                   Net Income ‐  Raptorium 100                                                                                                                                                

Less: Capitalized  Purchases ‐                                              Net Income ‐  Clubs, PTSO, Boosters ‐                                                                                                                                                 
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FY 2023‐24 Budget Update 10.31.23

Research Triangle  High School

FY 2023‐2024          

Approved Budget  

FY 2023 ‐2024 

Working Budget

Actuals as of 

10.31.23 33% Comments:

Less: Principal Payments (240,000)                              Net Income ‐  US Bank ‐                                                                                                                                                 

Less: Repair and  Replacement Fund  Transfer  (85,800)                                 Add: Repair and  Replacement Fund  Transfer 85,800                                                                                                                                         

Total Operating Expenses 6,348,213                               Add: Capitalized  Items ‐                                                                                                                                                 

Divided  by 365  days 365                                             Add: Principal Payments 240,000                                                                                                                                      

Operating Expense  per Day 17,392                                      Less: Amortization (11,869)                                                                                                                                    

Multiplied  by 45  days 45                                                Less: Depreciation ‐                                                                                                                                                 

Minimum balance  required for unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 782,656                                   Change  in Net Assets 521,344                                                                                                                                      

Add: Interest 532,425                                                                                                                                      

Add: Amortization 11,869                                                                                                                                         

Ending Cash  Balance 2,340,414                               Add: Depreciation ‐                                                                                                                                                 

Raptorium Cash 1,290                                         Net Income  Available  for Debt Service 1,065,638                                                                                                                                  

Clubs, PTSO, Boosters Cash 126,226                                   Maximum Annual Debt Service 762,425                                                                                                                                      

Total Unrestricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,467,930                               Projected Debt Service  Coverage  Ratio 1.40  

Divided  by Operating Expense per Day 17,392                                      Excess of  DSCR Requirement 150,728                                                                                                                                      

Projected Days Cash on Hand 142                                             Required DSCR in Covenants 1.20                                                                                                                                               

Liquidity Requirement for Days Cash on Hand 45                                               
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BYLAWS
OF

CONTEMPORARY SCIENCE CENTER, INC.

ARTICLE I
PURPOSES OF THE CORPORATION

1. IRS Section 501(c)(3) Purposes. The Corporation is hereby organized exclusively for charitable 
and educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, namely to maintain and operate the Contemporary Science Center and its school or 
its programs; and generally to engage in any lawful act or activity for which nonprofit and tax-
exempt corporations may be organized under Chapter 55A of the North Carolina General 
Statutes and Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or the corresponding 
provisions of any future state or federal laws.

2. Statement of Purpose. The purpose of the Corporation is to establish and govern charter 
schools under North Carolina charter school legislation and to pursue the advancement of 
education.

ARTICLE II
OFFICES

1. Principal Office. The principal office of the Corporation shall be located in Durham County, 
North Carolina or such other place as is designated by the Board of Directors.

2. Registered Office. The registered office of the Corporation required by law to be maintained in 
the State of North Carolina may be, but need not be, identical with the principal office.

3. Other Offices. The Corporation may have offices at such other places, either within or without 
the State of North Carolina, as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine or as 
the affairs of the Corporation may require.

4. Agent. The Corporation shall continuously maintain within North Carolina a registered agent, 
who shall be designated by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE III
MEMBERSHIP

1. The Corporation shall not have members.
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ARTICLE IV
DIRECTORS

1. General Powers. All corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the 
business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by, the Board of Directors or by such 
committees as the Board of Directors may establish pursuant to these Bylaws.

2. Number, Make Up, Term and Qualification. The number of directors of the Corporation shall 
be not less than five (5) nor more than fifteen (15) as may be fixed or changed from time to 
time, within the minimum and maximum, by the Board of Directors. There shall a maximum of 
3 or 25%, whichever is less, of the Board of Directors who are parents of students attending 
Research Triangle High School. Each director shall hold office starting the next meeting of the 
Board of Directors following the director’s election and until the completion of their term or 
upon their death, resignation, retirement, removal, disqualification or their successor is elected 
and qualifies. The term of a newly elected director shall be 4 years and it is renewable for up 
to a second 4-year term. A majority of Directors must be residents of the State of North 
Carolina. 

3. Election of Directors. The directors shall be elected by the Board of Directors.
4. Removal. A majority of the directors then in office may remove, with or without cause, any 

director elected by the Board of Directors.
5. Vacancies. A vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, including, without limitation, a 

vacancy created by an increase in the authorized number of directors or resulting from the 
members’ failure to elect the full authorized number of directors, may be filled by the Board of 
Directors or if the directors remaining in office constitute less than a quorum of the directors, 
they may fill the vacancy by the affirmative vote of a majority of all remaining directors or by 
the sole remaining director. If the vacant office was held by a director elected by a voting group 
or class, only the remaining director or directors elected by that voting group or the members 
of that voting group or class are entitled to fill the vacancy. A director elected to fill a vacancy 
shall be elected for the unexpired term of their predecessor in office. The members entitled to 
vote for directors may elect a director at any time to fill any vacancy not filled by the directors.

6. Duties. The Board of Directors shall perform any and all duties imposed on them collectively 
and individually by law, the Articles of Incorporation, or the Bylaws. Directors shall stand in a 
fiduciary relation to the Corporation and shall discharge the duties of the respective positions 
in good faith, with the diligence and care which reasonably prudent men and women would 
exercise in similar circumstances and like positions.

7. Compensation. Directors shall not receive any compensation for their services; however, the 
Board may approve the reimbursement of a Director’s travel and related expenses incurred in 
the conduct of the Corporation’s business as are authorized by the Board through a vote 
pursuant to these bylaws. The Corporation shall carry liability insurance covering the Directors 
and Officers of the Corporation in the conduct of the corporation’s business

8. Ad Hoc/Non-Voting Board Members. The Board of Directors may, through a vote consistent with these 
bylaws, invite up to two (2) non-voting board members to serve on an ad hoc basis to contribute to 
the board in a Nonvoting capacity.  Such non-voting board members shall not be permitted to attend 
closed session meetings as defined by North Carolina’s Open Meeting laws, or be involved in any 
confidential matters of the Organization including personnel and student matters unless such 
attendance is necessary and would not be in violation of any applicable laws.
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ARTICLE V
OFFICERS

1. Number. The officers of the Corporation shall consist of a Chair, a Vice Chair, a Secretary, a 
Treasurer and other officers as the Board of Directors may see necessary. Any two or more 
offices, other than that of Chair and Secretary, may be held by the same person. In no event, 
however, may an officer act in more than one capacity where action of two or more officers is 
required. The duties of the officers shall be those prescribed by these Bylaws and any additional 
duties as the Board of Directors may from time-to-time assign. 

2. Election. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected from among the Board of Directors. 
Such election may be held at any regular or special meeting (or annual meeting) of the Board 
of Directors. Each officer shall hold office for one year or until their death, resignation, 
retirement, removal, disqualification, or their successor is elected and qualifies.

3. Term. The chair may serve no more than three consecutive one-year terms. Trustees elected 
to the other officer positions may serve no more than five consecutive one-year terms. Former 
officers, after a break in service of two years, may be elected to another term as an officer.

4. Removal. Any officer or agent appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed by the 
Board with or without cause.

5. Vacancies. A vacancy among the officers of the corporation because of death, resignation, 
removal, disqualification, or any other cause may be filled for the unexpired portion of the 
terms by the Board of Directors.

6. Compensation. Officers shall serve without compensation for their services to the Board, 
except for travel and related expenses as may be authorized by the Board. 

7. Chair. The Chair shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and subject to the control 
of the Board of Directors, shall supervise and control the management of the Corporation in 
accordance with these Bylaws.  They shall sign, with any other proper officer, any deeds, 
mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments which may be lawfully executed on behalf 
of the Corporation, except where required or permitted by law to be otherwise signed and 
executed and except where the signing and execution thereof shall be delegated by the Board 
of Directors to some other officer or agent; and, in general, they shall perform all duties incident 
to the office of Chair and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from 
time to time.

8. Vice Chair. The Vice Chair, unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, shall, in the 
absence or disability of the Chair, perform the duties and exercise the powers of that office. In 
addition, they shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Chair, or the 
Board of Directors shall prescribe. 

9. Secretary. The Secretary shall keep accurate records of the acts and proceedings of all meetings 
of members, directors, and committees. They shall give all notices required by law and by these 
Bylaws. They shall have general charge of the corporate books and records and of the corporate 
seal, and they shall affix the corporate seal to any lawfully executed instrument requiring it. 
They shall have general charge of the books of the Corporation and shall keep, at the registered 
or principal office of the Corporation, a record of members showing the name and address of 
each member. They shall sign such instruments as may require their signature, and, in general, 
attest the signature or certify the incumbency or signature of any other officer of the 
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Corporation and shall perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties 
as may be assigned them from time to time by the Chair or by the Board of Directors.

10. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have custody of all funds belonging to the Corporation and shall 
receive, deposit or disburse the same under the direction of the Board of Directors. They shall 
keep full and accurate accounts of the finances of the Corporation in books especially provided 
for that purpose, which may be consolidated or combined statements of the Corporation and 
one or more of its subsidiaries as appropriate, that include a balance sheet as of the end of the 
fiscal year, an income statement for that year, and a statement of cash flows for the year unless 
that information appears elsewhere in the financial statements. If financial statements are 
prepared for the Corporation on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles, the 
annual financial statements must also be prepared on that basis. The Corporation shall mail the 
latest annual financial statement, to each member upon receipt of a written demand for same 
from such member. The Treasurer shall, in general, perform all duties incident to their office 
and such other duties as may be assigned to them from time to time by the Chair or by the 
Board of Directors.

11. Assistant Secretaries and Treasurers. The Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers shall, 
in the absence or disability of the Secretary or the Treasurer, perform the respective duties and 
exercise the respective powers of those offices, and they shall, in general, perform such other 
duties as shall be assigned to them by the Secretary or the Treasurer, respectively, or by the 
Chair or by the Board of Directors.

12. Bonds. The Board of Directors, by resolution, may require any or all officers, agents, and 
employees of the Corporation to give bond to the Corporation, with sufficient sureties, 
conditioned on the faithful performance of the duties of their respective offices or positions, 
and to comply with such other conditions as may from time to time be required by the Board 
of Directors.
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ARTICLE VI Committee 
1. General. The Board shall appoint committees as needed. These committees shall function 

under direction from the Board of Directors. The Board shall nominate and elect the chair of 
each appointed committee. The committee chair shall nominate members for each committee, 
and membership on the committees shall not be restricted to the Directors of the Board, except 
that the Executive Committee and any Committee discussing personnel matters shall be limited 
to Board members only. Committees shall meet and conduct business between Board meetings 
and make reports and recommendations at Board meetings. Each Director shall serve on at 
least one standing committee. The roles and responsibilities of each committee shall be 
established and formally approved by the Board of Directors.

2. Notice of Meetings.  Meetings of any such committee will be held as needed and with proper 
notice consistent with North Carolina’s Open Meeting Laws.

3. Quorum. A majority of the members of any such committee shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business at any meeting thereof and actions of such committee must be 
authorized by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of such committee.

4. Removal. Any member of any such committee may be removed at any time with or without 
cause by resolution adopted by a majority of the Board of Directors.

5. Meeting Procedure.  Any such committee shall elect a presiding officer from among its 
members and may fix its own rules of procedure which shall not be inconsistent with these 
Bylaws. It shall keep regular minutes of its proceedings and report the same to the Board of 
Directors for its information at the meeting thereof held next after the proceedings shall have 
been taken.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
1. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings, including annual board retreats, of the Board of Directors 

shall be held at least 10 times per year at such time and place as designated by the Board. 
Regular meetings of the Board of Directors are held monthly except in July and December 
unless a meeting is deemed necessary. Meetings are typically held the third Wednesday of the 
month in the evening. The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held in September 
or October of each year for the purpose of electing directors of the corporation, and for 
transacting the normal business of the Board. The Board shall inform the public about the 
meetings using any feasible means of communication as permitted by law and consistent with 
North Carolina’s Open Meeting laws.

2. Special/Emergency Meetings. Special or Emergency meetings of the Board of Directors may 
be called by the President, any Officer, or any two Directors. The meetings shall be held at 
such time and place as designated by the Board. The Board shall inform the public about the 
meetings, as soon as practical under the circumstances, using any feasible means of 
communication as permitted by law and consistent with North Carolina’s Open Meeting laws. 

3.  Notice of Meetings. Notice of any regular meeting, including annual board retreat, of the 
Board of Directors shall be given to the Directors at least seven days prior thereto. Notice of 
any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given at least two days (48 hours) prior 
thereto. Notice of Emergency meetings shall be made consistent with North Carolina’s Open 
Meeting laws.  All notices shall be delivered by any feasible means of communication as 
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permitted by law and consistent with North Carolina’s Open Meeting laws. Directors shall be 
required to notify the President of their inability to attend any meeting at least twenty-four 
hours prior to meeting time. Quorum. Unless otherwise required by law, a majority of the 
directors in office immediately before the meeting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction 
of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors.

4. Waiver Notice.  Notice does not have to be given to any director who indicates, before or after 
the meeting, either a consent to the holding of the meeting, or an approval of the meeting's 
minutes, or who attends the meeting without protesting the lack of notice prior to the 
beginning of the meeting.  All such indications, consents, and approvals shall be included in the 
minutes to the meeting to which they pertain.

5. Quorum. The presence of the majority of the current Board of Directors having voting authority 
at a meeting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. If less than a quorum is 
present at the time and place of any meeting, the Directors present may adjourn the meeting 
until a quorum shall be present.

6. Voting. If a quorum is present when a vote is taken, the action of a majority of the Directors is 
the action of the Board of Directors. Voting by proxy is not permitted. If any Director abstains 
from voting on a particular motion before the Board due to a conflict of interest, then the 
remainder of the Directors shall still constitute a quorum for that particular vote and a majority 
of those voting Directors shall be required to approve the motion.

7. Electronic Meetings and Attendance.  Board meetings may be held virtually as long as all 
members participating in the meeting can hear one another.  For any meetings, whether in 
person or virtually, Directors may individually participate by means of a conference telephone, 
video conference, or any other electronic communication so long as all members participating 
in the meeting can hear one another. Such participation constitutes personal presence at the 
meeting for purposes of conducting business and meeting the quorum requirements.

8. Manner of Acting/Conduct of Meetings. The President of the Board, or in their absence, the 
Vice President or any director selected by the directors present, shall preside at meetings of 
the Board of Directors.  The Secretary of the Board, or in their absence, any person appointed 
by the presiding officer shall act as Secretary of the Board. The Board may elect to use Robert’s 
Rules of Order as a guideline for conducting all meetings.

9. Open Meetings Law. The Board of Directors shall abide by the public policy of the State of 
North Carolina in regard to Board meetings as describe in the North Carolina Open Meetings 
Law. 
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ARTICLE VII
CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY

No Director, officer, or agent of the Corporation shall obtain any direct or indirect economic stake in 
any entity participating in the programs of the Corporation, and the Corporation shall not employ any 
individual who serves as a Director or officer of such an entity or an individual who owns a stake in any 
such entity. It is the policy of the Corporation that no Director, officer, or agent of the corporation shall 
receive any personal or private benefit resulting from the activities of the Corporation or from the 
receipt of funds by the Corporation from the State of North Carolina or from any other source, apart 
from reasonable compensation for services rendered and reimbursement for reasonable expenses 
incurred in the conduct of the business of the Corporation. In furtherance of this policy, the Board of 
Directors shall have the power to make such rules and regulations concerning conflicts of interest as it 
deems appropriate and consistent with applicable laws and regulations, including with regulations set 
forth by the Office of Charter Schools
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ARTICLE VIII
CONTRACTS, LOANS AND DEPOSITS

1. Contracts. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, or agent or agents, to 
enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument on behalf of the Corporation, 
and such authority may be general or confined to specific instance, provided however, that all 
contracts are executed in compliance with the Organization’s fiscal control policies and 
procedures.

2. Loans. No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Corporation and no evidence of 
indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by a resolution of the Board of 
Directors. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

3. Checks and Drafts. All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money issued in the 
name of the Corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers, or agent or agents, of the 
Corporation and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the 
Board of Directors.

4. Deposits. All funds of the Corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to 
time to the credit of the Corporation in such depository or depositories as the Board of 
Directors shall direct.

5.  State Indebtedness Clause. To the extent required by law, every contract of the Organization 
shall include the following provision: “No indebtedness of any kind incurred or created by the 
charter school shall constitute an indebtedness of the State or its political subdivisions, and 
no indebtedness of the charter school shall involve or be secured by the faith, credit, or taxing 
power of the State or its political subdivisions as required by NCGS Section 115C-218.105(b).”

6. Gifts. The Board or any agent may accept on behalf of the Corporation any contribution, gift, 
bequest, or devise for the benefit or perpetuation of the purposes of the Corporation 
consistent with federal and state law and regulation and representations made in the 
Corporations 1023 filing.

7. Audits. The Board shall retain an independent auditor approved by the North Carolina Local 
Government Commission to conduct an annual audit of the Corporation’s finances. The 
Corporation shall adhere to the auditing and reporting procedures and requirements adopted 
by the North Carolina State Board of Education for charter schools. 

8. Bond. At the direction of the Board, any officer or agent of the Corporation shall be bonded, 
and the Corporation shall pay the expense of procuring any such bond. 
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ARTICLE IX
INDEMNIFICATION AND REIMBURSEMENT
OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

1. Indemnification for Expenses and Liabilities
(a) Any person who at any time serves or has served: (1) as a director, officer, employee or 

agent of the Corporation, (2) at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, 
partner, trustee, employee or agent of another foreign or domestic corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, or (3) at the request of the 
Corporation as a trustee or administrator under an employee benefit plan, shall have a 
right to be indemnified by the Corporation to the fullest extent from time to time 
permitted by law against Liability and Expenses in any Proceeding (including without 
limitation a Proceeding brought by or on behalf of the Corporation itself) arising out of 
their status as such or activities in any of the foregoing capacities or results from them 
being called as a witness at a time when they has not been made a named defendant 
or respondent to any Proceeding.

(b) The Board of Directors of the Corporation shall take all such action as may be necessary 
and appropriate to authorize the Corporation to pay the indemnification required by 
this provision, including, without limitation, to the extent needed, making a good faith 
evaluation of the manner in which the claimant for indemnity acted and of the 
reasonable amount of indemnity due him. Such determination shall be made by (1) the 
Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors who were not 
parties to such action, suit or proceeding, or (2) if such a quorum is not obtainable, or 
even if obtainable, if a quorum of disinterested Directors so directs, by independent 
legal counsel in a written opinion.

(c) Any person who at any time serves or has served in any of the aforesaid capacities for 
or on behalf of the Corporation shall be deemed to be doing or to have done so in 
reliance upon, and as consideration for, the rights provided for herein. Any repeal or 
modification of these indemnification provisions shall not affect any rights or 
obligations existing at the time of such repeal or modification. The rights provided for 
herein shall inure to the benefit of the legal representatives of any such person and shall 
not be exclusive of any other rights to which such person may be entitled apart from 
this provision.

(d) The rights granted herein shall not be limited by the provisions contained in Sections 
55A-8-51 through 55A-8-56 of the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act or any 
successor to such statutes.

2. Advance Payment of Expenses. The Corporation shall (upon receipt of an undertaking by or on 
behalf of the director, officer, employee or agent involved to repay the Expenses described 
herein unless it shall ultimately be determined that they are entitled to be indemnified by the 
Corporation against such Expenses) pay Expenses incurred by such director, officer, employee 
or agent in defending a Proceeding or appearing as a witness at a time when they have not 
been named as a defendant or a respondent with respect thereto in advance of the final 
disposition of such Proceeding.

3. Insurance. The Corporation shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf 
of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or 
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was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, partner, trustee, employee 
or agent of another domestic or foreign corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other 
enterprise or as a trustee or administrator under an employee benefit plan against any liability 
asserted against them and incurred by them in any such capacity, or arising out of their status 
as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against 
such liability.

4. Definitions. The following terms as used in this Article shall have the following meanings. 
“Proceeding” means any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, or proceeding and any 
appeal therein (and any inquiry or investigation that could lead to such action, suit, or 
proceeding), whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or arbitrative and whether 
formal or informal. “Expenses” means expenses of every kind, including counsel fees. “Liability” 
means the obligation to pay a judgment, settlement, penalty, fine (including an excise tax 
assessed with respect to an employee benefit plan), reasonable expenses incurred with respect 
to a Proceeding and all reasonable expenses incurred in enforcing the indemnification rights 
provided herein. “director,” “officer,” “employee” and “agent” include the estate or personal 
representative of a director, officer, employee or agent. “Corporation” shall include any 
domestic or foreign predecessor of this Corporation in a merger or other transaction in which 
the predecessor’s existence ceased upon consummation of the transaction.
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ARTICLE X
GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Seal. The corporate seal shall have the name of the Corporation inscribed thereon and shall be 
in such form of as may be approved from time to time by the Board of Directors. Such seal may 
be an impression or stamp and may be used by the officers of the Corporation by causing it, or 
a facsimile thereof, to be impressed or affixed or in any other manner reproduced. In addition 
to any form of seal adopted by the Board of Directors, the officers of the Corporation may use 
as the corporate seal a seal in the form of a circle containing the name of the Corporation and 
the state of its incorporation (or an abbreviation thereof) on the circumference and the word 
“Seal” in the center.

2. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the 1st day of July and end on the 
last day of June in each year. As such, all of the School's financial records shall be maintained 
according to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) on a July 1 through June 30 fiscal 
year basis.

3. Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice whatever is required to be given under the provisions 
of §55A-2-02 of the General Statues of the State of North Carolina or under the provisions of 
the articles of incorporation of the by-laws of the corporation, a waiver thereof in writing signed 
by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated 
therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice.

4. Prohibited Activities. No part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit 
of or be distributable to, its members, Directors, officers, or other private persons except that 
the Corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for 
services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of purposes set forth 
in these Articles of Incorporation. No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall 
be the carrying on of propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the 
Corporation shall not participate in or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of 
statements) any political campaign on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public 
office. Notwithstanding any other provisions of these articles, the Corporation shall not carry 
on any other activities not permitted to be carried on by a corporation exempt from federal 
income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code or by a corporation, contributions to which are 
deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of the Code.

5. Non-Discrimination Policy. The Corporation shall not discriminate on the basis of race, religious 
preference, national or ethnic origin, disability, gender, sexual orientation, creed, ancestry, age, 
marital status, military status, political affiliation or belief, and any other legally protected 
categories, in either the hiring and other employment practices of the school or in its admission 
policies for students. Further, the Corporation shall be open to all students as authorized on a 
space available basis and shall not discriminate in its admission policies or practices. The 
Corporation shall conduct all of its activities in accordance with all applicable local, state, and 
federal anti-discrimination laws, as well as in accordance with all other laws and regulations 
applicable to the operation of charter public schools in the State of North Carolina.

6. Distribution Upon Dissolution. Upon the dissolution or final liquidation of the Corporation, 
after payment or provision for payment of all liabilities of the Corporation, the Corporation’s 
remaining assets shall be disposed of as required by North Carolina law (N.C. Gen. State. Section 
55A-14-03).  Specifically, and only as long as required by state law pursuant to the Charter Act 
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or its successor provisions, all net assets of the charter school purchased with public funds shall 
be deemed the property of the local school administrative unit in which the charter school is 
located.  To the extent otherwise allowed by law, all assets shall be distributed for one or more 
exempt purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, or shall be distributed 
to the federal government, or to a state or local government, for a public purpose, all as the 
board of directors of the Corporation may determine, in accordance with applicable laws or 
any successor provisions thereto. Any such assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by the 
Superior Court of the county in which the principal office of the Corporation is located, 
exclusively for such purposes or to such organization or organizations as such court shall 
determine, which are organized and operated exclusively for such exempt or public purposes.

7. Books and Records. The Corporation shall keep at its principal office (a) a copy of the 
Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation and the Bylaws as amended to date; (b) a record of its 
Directors, indicating their names, physical and email addresses, and telephone numbers, dates 
of election to the Board and to office(s), if applicable; (c) a record of its committees and 
committee members, including the specific task for which each committee was formed and 
members’ names, physical and email addresses and telephone numbers; (d) minutes of all 
Board and committee meetings, indicating the time and place of such meetings, names of those 
present and the proceedings thereof; and (e) adequate and correct books and records, 
including accounts of its properties and business transactions and accounts of its assets, 
liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, and losses. Every Director has the absolute right to 
inspect and copy all books, records, and documents of every kind and to inspect the physical 
properties of the corporation provided such inspection is conducted at a reasonable time after 
reasonable notice, and provided that such right of inspection and copying is subject to the 
Corporation’s obligations to maintain the confidentiality of certain books, records and 
documents under any applicable federal, state or local law.

8. Bylaw Amendments. The Bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed, and new Bylaws may 
be adopted at any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors upon a vote of a majority 
of the members of the Board of Directors, provided that notice of such proposed action, 
including the content thereof, be included in the call for the meeting.  To the extent required 
by law, bylaws will be submitted to the regulators, including the Office of Charter Schools and 
Department of Public Instruction.

ARTICLE XII
NON-DISCRIMINATION POLICY

It is the policy of the School not to discriminate on the basis of race, color, religious creed, 
national origin, ancestry, sexual orientation, disability or handicap. No person shall, on the basis 
of race, color, national origin, ancestry, gender, sexual orientation, disability, or handicap, be 
denied equal access or admission to school programs, courses, extracurricular activities and 
employment opportunities. In addition, under section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of 
1973, no otherwise qualified individual, shall solely by reason of his/her handicap, be excluded 
from the participation in, be denied the benefits of or be subjected to discrimination under any 
program or activity at the School.
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ARTICLE XIII
NORTH CAROLINA OPEN MEETINGS LAW

Except as provided in GS 143-318.11, 143-318.14A, 143-318.15 and 143-318.18, each official 
meeting of the board shall be open to the public, and any person is entitled to attend such a 
meeting. CSC will comply with the North Carolina Open Meetings Law.
The above revised Bylaws were duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the Corporation by 
action taken, effective November 15, 2023.

These bylaws were approved at a meeting of the Board of Directors of on ________________. 
They were most recently revised by the Board of Directors on ________________ 

_______________________
Board Secretary
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DRAFT
[insert letterhead]

Via Email

Ashley Baquero
Charter Schools Consultant
NCDPI Office of Charter Schools
6303 Mail Service Center
Raleigh, NC 27699-6303
Ashley.Baquero@dpi.nc.gov

Re: Request for Approval of __________________ Amended Bylaws

Dear Ms. Baquero,

___________________ has updated and amended its bylaws to better reflect the 
School’s evolution and operations.  As you will see, the majority of 
modifications were intended to ensure that the School and its board are 
operating effectively and efficiently. Our legal counsel reviewed all 
modifications to ensure legal compliance.  A clean version of the new bylaws 
together with a redlined version of the prior version, which was approved by 
OCS are enclosed.  The Board voted to approve the amended bylaws at its 
________________.  A copy of the minutes approving the bylaws is also enclosed.

We ask that pursuant to North Carolina law and regulation that the bylaws be 
reviewed and approved.  If you have any questions, please contact our legal 
counsel, Lisa Gordon Stella, at 919-274-5719 or lisa@lgstellalaw.com.

Sincerely,

Executive Director Board Chair

cc:  Lisa Gordon Stella, Esq.
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